
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Children's 
Services 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

Date: Monday, 3rd October, 2005 

Time: 10.00 a.m. 

Place: 
The Council Chamber, 
Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of 
the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Paul James, Members' Services Tel: 01432 
260460 Fax: 01432 260286 

e-mail: pjames@herefordshire.gov.uk 

  
 
County of Herefordshire 
District Council 





COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 3RD OCTOBER, 2005 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
for the Meeting of the Children's Services 
Scrutiny Committee 

 
To:                   Councillor 

Councillor 
 

 
B.F. Ashton (Chairman) 
 J.P. Thomas (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillors N.J.J. Davies, G. Lucas, R.M. Manning, 
Mrs. J.E. Pemberton, Mrs. S.J. Robertson, 
D.C. Taylor, Ms. A.M. Toon and W.J. Walling 

  
Church Members J.D. Griffin (Roman Catholic Church) and 

Revd. I. Terry (Church of England) 
  

Parent Governor Members Ms K. Fitch (Primary School Parent Governor 
Member) and Mrs. C. Woolley (Secondary School 
Parent Governors) 

  
Teacher Representatives M. Carter (Special Education Sector Teachers), C. 

Lewandowski (Secondary School teachers) and 
J.D. Pritchard (Primary sector teachers) 

  
Headteacher Representatives A Marson (Secondary Headteachers) and Miss S. 

Peate (Primary Sector Headteachers) 
  

  
  
 Pages 
  

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     

 To receive apologies for absence.  

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     

 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 
the Agenda. 

 

3. MINUTES   1 - 4  

 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 13th July, 2005.  

4. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR 
FUTURE SCRUTINY   

  

 To consider suggestions from members of the public on issues the 
Committee could scrutinise in the future. 

 

5. BRIEFING REPORT ON CHILDREN'S SERVICES - SCHOOL SUPPORT   5 - 14  

 To brief scrutiny members on a number of areas of work within Children’s 
Services and to invite questions and debate around these key areas which 
are attendance, attainment, behaviour, exclusions and drugs education. 
 

 



 

6. INSPECTION OF HEREFORDSHIRE LOCAL AUTHORITY FOSTERING 
SERVICE   

15 - 20  

 To identify action taken by the Children’s Services Directorate in response 
to the requirements and recommendations of the Inspection of 
Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service (2005) undertaken by the 
Commission for Social Care Inspection (CSCI). 

 

CSCI Fostering Inspection Report   

The attached CSCI Fostering Service inspection report was forwarded as a 
separate document to Committee Members and is attached for the information of 
the public. 

 

7. REVIEW OF STATUTORY AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS ON 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE   

21 - 26  

 To review the statutory and co-opted membership on the Children’s 
Services Scrutiny Committee. 

 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

The Council has established Scrutiny Committees for Adult Social Care 
and Strategic Housing, Childrens’ Services, Community Services, 
Environment, and Health.  A Strategic Monitoring Committee scrutinises 
corporate matters and co-ordinates the work of these Committees. 

The purpose of the Committees is to ensure the accountability and 
transparency of the Council's decision making process. 

The principal roles of Scrutiny Committees are to 
 
•  Help in developing Council policy 
 
• Probe, investigate, test the options and ask the difficult questions 

before and after decisions are taken 
 
• Look in more detail at areas of concern which may have been raised 

by the Cabinet itself, by other Councillors or by members of the public 
 
• "call in" decisions  - this is a statutory power which gives Scrutiny 

Committees the right to place a decision on hold pending further 
scrutiny. 

 
• Review performance of the Council 
 
• Conduct Best Value reviews  
 
• Undertake external scrutiny work engaging partners and the public  
 
Formal meetings of the Committees are held in public and information 
on your rights to attend meetings and access to information are set out 
overleaf 
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Public Involvement at Scrutiny Committee Meetings 

You can contact Councillors and Officers at any time about Scrutiny 
Committee matters and issues which you would like the Scrutiny 
Committees to investigate.  

There are also two other ways in which you can directly contribute at 
Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committee meetings. 

1. Identifying Areas for Scrutiny 

At the meeting the Chairman will ask the members of the public present if 
they have any issues which they would like the Scrutiny Committee to 
investigate, however, there will be no discussion of the issue at the time 
when the matter is raised.  Councillors will research the issue and consider 
whether it should form part of the Committee’s work programme when 
compared with other competing priorities. 

Please note that the Committees can only scrutinise items which fall within 
their specific remit (see below).  If a matter is raised which falls within the 
remit of another Scrutiny Committee then it will be noted and passed on to 
the relevant Chairman for their consideration.   

2. Questions from Members of the Public for Consideration at 
Scrutiny Committee Meetings and Participation at Meetings 

You can submit a question for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee 
meeting so long as the question you are asking is directly related to an item 
listed on the agenda.  If you have a question you would like to ask then 
please submit it no later than two working days before the meeting to 
the Committee Officer.  This will help to ensure that an answer can be 
provided at the meeting.  Contact details for the Committee Officer can be 
found on the front page of this agenda.   

Generally, members of the public will also be able to contribute to the 
discussion at the meeting.  This will be at the Chairman’s discretion.   

(Please note that the Scrutiny Committees are not able to discuss 
questions relating to personal or confidential issues.) 



 
Remits of Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committees 
 
Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 
 
Statutory functions for adult social services including: 
Learning Disabilities 
Strategic Housing 
Supporting People 
Public Health 
 
Children’s Services 
 
Provision of services relating to the well-being of children including 
education, health and social care. 
 
Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
 
Libraries 
Cultural Services including heritage and tourism 
Leisure Services 
Parks and Countryside 
Community Safety 
Economic Development 
Youth Services 
 
Health 
 
Planning, provision and operation of health services affecting the area 
Health Improvement 
Services provided by the NHS 
 
Environment 
 
Environmental Issues 
Highways and Transportation 
 
Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Corporate Strategy and Finance 
Resources  
Corporate and Customer Services 
Human Resources 
 
 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
 
• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the 

business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the 
meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to 
six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up 
to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a 
report is given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on 
which the officer has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available 
to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and 
Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, 
subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per 
agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of 
the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy 
documents. 

 

 

 



 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large 
print.  Please contact the officer named on the front cover of this 
agenda in advance of the meeting who will be pleased to deal 
with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for 
visitors in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 
 
Public Transport Links 
 
 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs 

approximately every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the Tesco store in 
Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / 
Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its junction 
with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions about this agenda, how the Council works or would like more 
information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information described above, 
you may do so either by telephoning the officer named on the front cover of this agenda 
or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - Thursday 
and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford. 

 

 

 

 

 
Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer waste. De-
inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). Awarded the 
Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 



 

COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located at 
the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be undertaken 
to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the 
building following which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning 
to collect coats or other personal belongings. 
 



COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Children's Services Scrutiny 
Committee held at The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 
Hafod Road, Hereford on Wednesday, 13th July, 2005 at 
9.30 a.m. 

Present: Councillor
Councillor

B.F. Ashton (Chairman) 
 J.P. Thomas (Vice Chairman) 

Councillors N.J.J. Davies, G. Lucas, R.M. Manning, 
Mrs. J.E. Pemberton, Mrs. S.J. Robertson, D.C. Taylor, 
Ms. A.M. Toon and W.J. Walling 

Church Members J.D. Griffin (Roman Catholic Church) and Revd. I. Terry 
(Church of England) 

Teacher
Representatives

M. Carter (Special Education Sector Teachers) and C. 
Lewandowski (Secondary School Teachers) 

Headteacher
Representatives

A Marson (Secondary Headteachers) 

In attendance: Councillors Mrs. A.E. Gray, Mrs. J.A. Hyde, T.M. James, 
D.W. Rule MBE (Cabinet Member - Children's Services), D.B. Wilcox 
and R.M. Wilson

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 Apologies were received from Miss S. Peate. 

Apologies were also received from Mrs C. Woolley, the newly appointed Parent 
Governor Member for the Secondary School sector.

2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES  

 There were no named substitutes.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 Agenda Item 5 - Councillor R. M. Manning declared a prejudicial interest, however, 
under the terms of the Code of Conduct relating to scrutiny committees he was 
eligible to take part in the meeting.  Mr J. D. Griffin and Rev’d. I Terry both declared 
personal interests in view of their professional role on the Committee. 

4. MINUTES  

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting of the former Education Scrutiny 
Committee held on 14th March, 2005 be approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 

AGENDA ITEM 3

1



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WEDNESDAY, 13TH JULY, 2005 

5. CALL-IN OF CABINET DECISION ON THE REVIEW OF DENOMINATIONAL 
TRANSPORT

 The Committee considered Cabinet’s decision on 23rd June, 2005 on the Review of 
Denominational Transport, which had been called-in by three members of the 
Committee, in accordance with the Scrutiny Committee Rules. 

The stated reason for calling in the decision was: “establishing the criteria for low 
income families”. 

The Cabinet Member – Children’s Services, outlined the decision of Cabinet.  The 
draft decision notice (Ref No 2005 CAB 057) together with the report to Cabinet by 
the Director of Children’s Services was contained in the agenda. 

The Head of Policy and Resources reported that a supplementary report had been 
issued subsequent to the agenda, which set out the proposals to ensure fair and 
effective implementation of the new policy, especially in relation to low income 
families.  He highlighted that the Council had the choice of using either a set of 
criteria that it would have to define and administer or, as recommended, a set of 
existing national criteria, which had already been defined and were widely used.  The 
Council had, however, to use its discretion in selecting which of the existing eligibility 
assessments was the most appropriate to this particular issue.  The application of 
the new policy was clarified to the Committee, which would take account of the 
needs of larger and/or low income families as follows: 

• Contributions towards the cost of the first two children attending any 
denominational school from any one family (at the same address), toward 
denominational transport, with any subsequent children having a 
denominational place entitled to free transport, so long as those other 
children remain in receipt of transport under this scheme. 

• Contributions being set at 3 levels reflecting the income level and family 
situation. The levels would be:

a) Full rate - Equivalent to the payments made under the Vacant Seats 
Policy  (The Vacant Seats Policy allows parents to take up spare seats 
on transport provided to those pupils who are outside the statutory 
walking distance). 

b) Free transport for those entitled to free school meals, free prescriptions 
(on income related criteria), and full housing or Council tax benefit; 

c) A 50% contribution would be sought from those not entitled under b) 
above but who would be entitled to housing and or Council tax benefit 
at a level to be determined. 

The following are the principal issues or comments arising from the ensuing debate: 

• The Committee agreed that the policy needed to be easily understandable by 
parents;

• That the policy needed to be easy to administer and enforce; 

• Having considered the pros and cons of various options for a local system of 
entitlement, the Committee agreed that the method of assessing low income 
families should be based on the eligibility criteria for state benefits (i.e. the 
use of Council Tax and Housing Benefits and Free School Meals 
entitlements).  Variations within state benefits criteria would mean that the 
implementation of a three tier banding scheme of entitlement for 
denominational transport would introduce an element of flexibility to the 
Council’s policy. 

• The Committee debated at some length the proposed level of parental 

2



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WEDNESDAY, 13TH JULY, 2005 

contribution (proposed as £100) and whether this should reflect the lower 
levels set by some other rural Councils as indicated in Appendix B to the 
report to Cabinet.  The Committee appreciated that while the issue was the 
establishment of criteria for low income families, it suggested that Cabinet 
give further consideration to the level of contribution aspect of the policy. 

• While Vacant Seats and Denominational Transport were separate policies, 
the Committee appreciated that there needed to be a degree of uniformity in 
relation to the level of parent contribution. 

• While the proposed policy addressed the issues raised by a potential legal 
challenge, concern was expressed that a proper impact assessment had not 
been undertaken.  A minority view was expressed that implementation should 
be deferred for one year pending a full review.  Concern was also expressed 
that by addressing one area of legal challenge the new policy must be 
sufficiently robust in all areas to resist any further legal challenge.

• The Committee were mindful of the overall consultation undertaken and the 
comments now made by the Diocesan Authorities concerning their need to 
consult with denominational school governors concerning any implementation 
of the new policy.  Having considered the timetable for implementation, 
(inclusion in the ‘Information to Parents’ handbook 2005 to be issued for the 
2006 pupil intake), then provided further discussion was held with the Church 
Authorities to ensure a smooth transition, the Committee supported the 
implementation timetable. 

• Clarification was still awaited from the DfES in relation to how the 
Denominational Transport policy would be affected should other schools of a 
differing philosophy become involved.  It was noted that legislation currently 
going through parliament may address this point. 

• The Cabinet Member (Children’s Services) stated that he would be 
recommending to Cabinet that this policy be reviewed after one year of 
operation.

• It was suggested that a review of the Denominational Transport Policy be 
included in the Committee’s work programme as an area for further 
monitoring.

Having debated the issue the Committee confirmed its wish to refer the decision 
back to Cabinet with the comments that: the method of assessing low income 
families be based on the eligibility criteria for state benefit; the suggested three 
banded system (full rate, free and 50%) be supported; further consideration be given 
to the level of parent contribution; further discussion be held with the Church 
Authorities over the implementation of the policy and that the policy be reviewed 
after one year of operation. 

RESOLVED:  That, based on the comments of this Committee, the decision on 
the Denominational Transport Policy, taken by Cabinet on 19th 
May, 2005, be referred back for further consideration by Cabinet. 

The meeting ended at 11.00 a.m. CHAIRMAN

3



4



CHILDREN’S SERVICES DIRECTORATE 3RD OCTOBER 2005 
 

 Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Ms S Fiennes, Director of Children’s Services (01432) 260039 

 
 

 

 BRIEFING REPORT ON CHILDREN’S SERVICES - 
SCHOOL SUPPORT 

Report By: DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES  
 

Wards Affected 

 Countywide.  

Purpose 

1. To brief scrutiny members on a number of areas of work within Children’s Services 
and to invite questions and debate around these key areas which are attendance, 
attainment, behaviour, exclusions and drugs education. 

Financial Implications   

2. None. 

Report 

Attendance 
 

3. The Education Welfare Service has continued to work closely with the county’s 
schools to reduce truancy. Absence rates during the Autumn and Spring terms of    
2004 / 05 fell and continue to be below the national average. 

4. During the last academic year the Education Welfare Service embraced the 
government’s ‘Penalty Notice’ initiative as an alternative to prosecuting parents / 
carers through the traditional route to magistrates court. Herefordshire is one of the 
leading group of authorities using Penalty Notices.  

5. Over the year the service issued a total of 204 Penalty Notice Warnings of which 43 
progressed to full Penalty Notices. The service had an above average payment rate 
which reduced the number of court appearances made by Educational Welfare 
Officers during the year.  (See appendix 1). 

6. The service continues to carry out ‘Truancy Sweeps’ in line with government 
recommendations; however, the majority of young people stopped had legitimate 
reasons for being out of school. Our findings are in line with recent national research 
on truancy sweeps. 

7. One of the focuses for this academic year is to discuss the issue of ‘Authorised 
Absence’ with primary school head teachers and to offer the strategies, currently 
operating with high schools, to try to reduce absence amongst Key Stage 1 and 2 
pupils.  

 

AGENDA ITEM 5

5



CHILDREN’S SERVICES DIRECTORATE 3RD OCTOBER 2005 
 

 Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Ms S Fiennes, Director of Children’s Services (01432) 260039 

 
 

 

 

Attainment 
 

8. The start of the September 2005 term sees a number of challenges facing the school 
system in Herefordshire, including the analysis and interpretation of the data 
emerging from the summer 2005 examination and testing programme, and the 
introduction of a new Ofsted inspection system for schools. 

 

2005 SCHOOL RESULTS 

9. The provisional 2005 results for Herefordshire are listed in the table below, with the 
audited 2004 figures in brackets.   Every year schools submit papers for re-marking 
and past experience would suggest that the 2005 figures maybe revised upwards by 
between 1% and 2% when the final figures are published. 

 

Key Stage 2 English Maths Science 
 Level 4 81% (81%) 75%(76%) 88% (88%) 
 Level 5 28% (29%) 33% (32%) 48% (47%) 
Key Stage 3 English  Maths Science 
 Level 5 79% (76%) 78% (79%) 74% (72%) 
 Level 6 41% (35%) 58% (59%) 41% (39%) 
GCSE 5A*C 5A*-G 1A*-G 
 57% (58%) 93% (91%) 98% (97%) 

 

10. In general, it looks like a ‘steady’ performance rather than one marked by very 
significant gains.  The English performance at Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3 is good 
but it is disappointing that the mathematics results at level 4 at Key Stage 2 have not 
improved.  In addition, the 5A*-C figure at GCSE has apparently plateaued for a 
second year, although some individual schools have done well.  

The New Ofsted Inspection system for Schools 

11. From this September a new school inspection system is being introduced whereby 
every school will be inspected every three years and: 

• Schools will be notified no more than a week before the inspectors arrive on 
site, normally Thursday for a Monday morning start;  

• The inspectors will be fewer in number and be in school for no-more than 2 
days; 

• Every school must have a self-evaluation form complete and up-to-date which 
will, along with a raft of school and pupils performance data, be the basis from 
which inspectors draw their conclusions and make their judgements. 

 

 

6



CHILDREN’S SERVICES DIRECTORATE 3RD OCTOBER 2005 
 

 Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Ms S Fiennes, Director of Children’s Services (01432) 260039 

 
 

 

 

12. A common grading scale will be used to make judgements about the overall 
effectiveness and efficiency of the school, and about the five Children’s Services 
outcomes of keeping safe, keeping healthy, enjoying and achieving, making a 
positive contribution and achieving economic well-being. 

Grade 1 Outstanding 

Grade 2 Good 

Grade 3 Satisfactory 

Grade 4 Inadequate 

13. Schools that are graded 4, inadequate, will be either judged to require a ‘notice to 
improve’ or be placed in ‘special measures!  The distinction between the two 
categories is that although both indicate a school is failing to provide an acceptable 
standard of education, ‘special measures’ indicates that the school does not have the 
capacity to improve.  In addition, a school in ‘special measures’ may have only a year 
in which to improve before it is considered for closure.   

14. Previous experience suggests that when a new inspection regime is introduced the 
local and national outcomes are to an extent, unpredictable.  It is, for instance, 
possible that a significant proportion of schools nationally maybe issued with “notices 
to improve”. 

15. Herefordshire has high expectations that no school should be graded 4 (inadequate).  
However it will be a challenging academic year and that expectation cannot be a 
guaranteed outcome.  

 

Behaviour Support 

16. All schools have to deal with children who present unacceptable behaviour from time 
to time.   

 
17. Frequently such behaviour is related to difficulties in learning, particularly poor levels 

of literacy.  Children’s Services is able to support schools and parents in a range of 
ways eg Herefordshire Learning Support Service works with schools to improve 
children’ s learning by providing strategies and resources. 

18. Additionally, there is increasing awareness of the need to establish and maintain firm 
rules and boundaries and to promote respectful behaviour.  Some schools have 
wholeheartedly adopted schemes such as Values Education or Emotional Literacy to 
emphasise the importance of responsible and respectful behaviour in the school 
community. 

7



CHILDREN’S SERVICES DIRECTORATE 3RD OCTOBER 2005 
 

 Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Ms S Fiennes, Director of Children’s Services (01432) 260039 

 
 

 

 

Initiatives include:- 

• each school having a clear behaviour policy regularly updated in accordance 
with advice from DFES and Local Authority documents.  Policies are made 
available to all parents, who are encouraged to support the school in 
maintaining the expected standard of behaviour. 

• most secondary schools having systems for helping children whose behaviour 
is disruptive for other pupils and is not conducive to their own learning.  These 
often take the form of a small group where individual attention, help with 
schoolwork, and counselling are available. 

• peer support systems and school councils, established with training, advice 
and monitoring by Healthy Schools and CLD Youth Counselling Trust. 

• secondary and primary schools, and pre-school settings benefitting from a 
wide variety of training courses offered by support services within Children’s 
Services (e.g. Medical and Behavioural Support Services, Herefordshire 
Psychology Service, School Improvement Service), and experts from outside 
the authority. 

• training being available for newly qualified teachers, teaching assistants, 
lunchtime supervisors and GNVQ students working in pre-school settings.  
Training addresses understanding and managing behaviour, and increases 
awareness of behaviour relating to low incidence disorders (ADHD, Autism 
etc) and the particular strategies which are helpful for those children. 

• use of The Pupil Attitudes to Self and School Survey are used in some high 
schools.  They are used to pinpoint areas of difficulty (e.g. a particular year 
group, ability set, subject area, attendance, whole school information), to 
enable the school to focus effort and resources effectively. 

• written advice to schools.  The following Booklets are available in every 
school.  They include information about, and management of:- 

◊ Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder 

◊ Depression 

◊ Anxiety 

◊ Asperger Syndrome 

◊ Traumatic Events/Critical Incident Support 

◊ Literacy Difficulties 

◊ Assertive Discipline 

◊ (BESD) Behavioural, Emotional and Social Difficulties – Changing Concepts 

◊ Developing Your School’s Anti-Bullying Policy 

8



CHILDREN’S SERVICES DIRECTORATE 3RD OCTOBER 2005 
 

 Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Ms S Fiennes, Director of Children’s Services (01432) 260039 

 
 

 

19. Children’s Services maintain good links with other agencies including the Police, 
Social Care, CLD Youth Counselling Trust, Youth Offending Teams, and the 
Education Welfare Service.  This is outlined in the current Behaviour Support Plan 
(BSP) which is regularly monitored by the Behaviour Forum.  The BSP details the 
work of all agencies, and schools, in dealing with inappropriate behaviour. 

20. Evidence of improvement in behaviour in schools generally is reflected in the gradual 
but steady decrease in permanent exclusions from 35 in the academic year 01-02, to 
29 in 04-05 

21. The Cooperation between schools and the Key Stage 3 Pupil Referral unit in 
maintaining Personal Support Plans has facilitated a successful return to school for 
many pupils and has been a major factor in achieving a reduction in exclusions. 

 

Social Inclusion 

 Exclusion from School 
22. In most cases exclusion will be the last resort after a range of measures have been 

tried to improve the pupil's behaviour. Head teachers may exclude a pupil for a fixed 
term or permanently.  Permanent exclusion is a very serious step to take and one 
which most Headteachers do not take lightly. 

23. The regulations allow head teachers to exclude pupils for one or more fixed periods 
up to a maximum of 45 days within a school year. Ofsted inspection evidence 
suggests that 1-3 days is often long enough to allow successful reintegration.  In 
cases where pupils are excluded for more than 15 days a meeting of the governors 
disciplinary committee must be called to consider the exclusion(s). 

24. For those pupils who have 15 days or more fixed term exclusion, and are therefore 
considered to be at risk of permanent exclusion, a Pastoral Support Programme 
(PSP.) is drawn up by the school.  A PSP is a plan of support agreed with the school, 
other agencies and in particular, the parents and the pupil. 

25. Permanently excluded secondary pupils in Years 7, 8 and 9 attend the reintegration 
base (based at Aconbury) and from there are supported in their return to mainstream 
school. These pupils are reintegrated through the 'cluster' system to a new school. 
Primary pupils are supported by the Medical and Behavioural Support Service whilst 
a fresh school is found for them.  

26. Permanently excluded pupils in Years 10 and 11 go straight into a KS4 PRU. 

27. The Social Inclusion Officer attends the Governing Body Meeting convened where 
exclusions are reviewed and makes a statement in general terms about how other 
schools may have responded to similar incidents or behaviours. Advice is offered 
where necessary on Government Guidelines for exclusion from school. In cases 
where the parents wish to appeal against a permanent exclusion the inclusion officer 
advises and attends the appeal meeting.  Appeal meetings are arranged by legal 
services and are independent of Children’s Services and the school. 

9



CHILDREN’S SERVICES DIRECTORATE 3RD OCTOBER 2005 
 

 Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Ms S Fiennes, Director of Children’s Services (01432) 260039 

 
 

 

 

Graph showing last six years permanent exclusions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Drug Education in Schools 
 

28. In line with the latest research and thinking around drug education, Herefordshire’s 
Children’s Services Directorate takes the approach of harm reduction rather than the 
less effective, ‘Just Say No’ style campaigns.  In schools we encourage lessons 
which are teacher led and focus on making decisions about personal risk and 
whether or not the student understands all the consequences of taking/not taking a 
particular substance. 

 
29. Herefordshire has demonstrated its commitment to this important area of work in 

local schools by appointing a specialist Drugs Education Development Officer 
(DEDO), who offers advice, guidance and support to schools, works with various 
agencies and has been the key officer for developing local resources for schools.  
This officer is part of the Healthy Schools team. 

99/00 00/01 01/02 02/03 03/04 04/05

Special  Female

Special  Male

Pr imar y Female

Pr imar y Male

Secondar y Female

Secondar y Male

17

28
26

19 20 21

8 9
8 8

7

21
5

3 4 4 40 1
0 0 0 01 0 0 0 0 0

1
0 0 0 0 0

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

N
o.

 o
f E

xc
lu

si
on

s

Year Groups

Permanent Exclusions - Last 6 Years

Special Female

Special Male

Primary Female

Primary Male

Secondary Female

Secondary Male

10



CHILDREN’S SERVICES DIRECTORATE 3RD OCTOBER 2005 
 

 Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Ms S Fiennes, Director of Children’s Services (01432) 260039 

 
 

 

 
 

30. Below are the resources that the DEDO has developed for use in Herefordshire 
schools and Pupil Referral Units. 

 
 

Key Stage 1 Just One 
Spoonful 

A big book approach to whole class teaching and learning, this 
pack concentrates on the issue – all medicines are drugs, but 
not all drugs are medicines.  This pack deals with literacy and 
health education in one go.  Seen as a gentle introduction, it is 
not very explicit due to the age of the students - talking mostly 
about medicines.  This pack is in the process of being replaced 
by a CD-Rom resource called Special Me. 
 

  Key Stage 2 Taking 
Drugs 

Literally 

A big book/interactive whiteboard approach to whole class 
teaching and learning, Taking Drugs Literally, satisfies the 
Literacy Strategy, whilst delivering key health education 
messages.  The pack is versatile and enables teachers to 
develop themes flexibly – ranging from brushing on the topics, 
yet satisfying the national curriculum, or going more deeply into 
the issues surrounding substance use.  Again - age specific - 
this pack concentrates mostly on legal drugs, alcohol, and 
tobacco, but also mentions cannabis. 

 

Key Stage 3 Eastcorrie 

Neighbours 

A harm reduction, drama approach to teaching and learning, 
this pack will be launched in November/December.  Harm 
reduction has abstinence at its core, but is pragmatic about the 
whole drug/drug use situation. This pack concentrates on 
alcohol, but brings in smoking, teenage pregnancy, legal issues 
and touches on domestic violence and family issues. 

Key Stage 4 Balance A video-based approach to teaching and learning, this is the 
‘Rachel’s Story’ pack.  Breaking the video down into 3 lessons, 
Balance looks at stereotyping, managing risk and support 
networks.  It has been in schools for nearly 2 years and is 
continually well received. 

 

Pupil Referral 
Units 

STONED Straight Talking On Nearly Every Drug is a harm reduction/ 
personal game approach to teaching and learning, focussing on 
those students most at risk from drugs, notably those in Pupil 
Referral Units.  It is a one to one approach and encourages 
young people to take a good look at their own drug use through 
a third party. 

 

31. In addition to these packs of work, support is given to students, teachers and parents 
through a locally developed internet website: www.drugsfaqs.org.  This is designed to 
be attractive to young people while offering a comprehensive range of information.  It 
also allows young people to ask questions which are answered and lets them read 

11



CHILDREN’S SERVICES DIRECTORATE 3RD OCTOBER 2005 
 

 Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Ms S Fiennes, Director of Children’s Services (01432) 260039 

 
 

 

previous questions and answers.  It is anonymous and well used.  The site is 
maintained and updated regularly. 

32. There is also some free training available to schools through MerciaNet South, a 
training organisation set up in conjunction with Herefordshire Community Safety and 
Drugs Partnership and Worcestershire Substance Misuse Action Team.  This training 
is available to any professional in Herefordshire who may come into contact with 
substances and their use.   

 

Recommendation 

THAT Scrutiny Committee considers and comments on the issues in the 
briefing report.. 

 

 

Background Papers 

• None identified. 

12



CHILDREN’S SERVICES DIRECTORATE 3RD OCTOBER 2005 
 

 Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Ms S Fiennes, Director of Children’s Services (01432) 260039 

 
 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

School PNW’s PN’s Yr 7  Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 11 

Q. E. 8(1 / 2) 0 1g  2g, 2b 2b, 1g  

Bishop’s 1(5 / 3)  1 (0 / 0 ) 
g,10 

   1g,   

Aylestone 12 (5 / 4) 0(0 / 1)  2b, 1g 1b 1b 4b,3g  

Haywood 9(13 / 
30) 

4(0 / 6) 
g,9. 
2xb,9. 
g,8 

 2g 2g, 3b 1g, 1b  

St. Mary’s 0 ( 0 / 0 ) 0      

Whitecross 5(4 / 5) 2(1 / 1) 
b,10. g,9 

  1g, 1b 1g, 2b  

Kingstone 3(1/ 3) 0(1 / 1)   1b 1b  1b  

L. H. H. S. 0(0 / 1) 0      

J.M.H.S. 5(4 / 2) 2(2 / 0) 
g,10. b, 
10. 

  1b, 1g 1b, 1g 1b 

Minster C. 14(10 / 
8) 

2(3 / 2) 
b,10 

1b,2g 1b, 1g  4g,1b 3g, 1b 

Fairfield 0 (0 / 0 ) 0      

J.K.H.S. 8(3 / 6) 3 ( 2 / 1) 
b,11. 
g,11.g,9 

 1b 2g, 1b 2g 1g, 1b 

Weobley 2(8 / 8) 0(1 / 0)    1g 1g 

Wigmore 0(1 / 0) 0      

 

Figure in brackets in PNW / PN column shows Autumn / Spring Terms totals. For PN 
column, figure following the g or b shows year group. 

* -  Penalty Notice withdrawn 

T = Traveller  

13



CHILDREN’S SERVICES DIRECTORATE 3RD OCTOBER 2005 
 

 Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Ms S Fiennes, Director of Children’s Services (01432) 260039 

 
 

 

 

 

School PNW’s PN’s Yr 7 YR 8 YR 9 YR 10 Yr 11 

Primaries 4 (0 / 4) 
3b, 1g 

1 ( 0 /0) 
b,1 

     X        X        X        X       X 

Brookfield 1 (0 / 1) 1( 0/0 ) 
b,9 

  1b   

Aconbury 0 0(1)      

Priory 0 0(1)      X       X       X    

St 
David’s 

0 0       X        X       X      

 

Figure in brackets in Penalty Notice Warning (PNW) / PN column shows Autumn Term total. 
For PN column, figure following g or b shows year group. 

 

SUMMER TERM 2005 

Totals for 2004 / 05 academic year;  PNW’s = 204 ( 10 – Prim’ 194 – Sec )             

                                                           PN’s =     43 ( inc. 2 x withdrawn ) 

 

 

14



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 3 OCTOBER 2005 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Rebecca Plato, Fostering Team Manager, on 
01432 262830 

 
 

CSSCInspectionofHfdsLAFosteringServicereport0.doc  

 INSPECTION OF HEREFORDSHIRE LOCAL 
AUTHORITY FOSTERING SERVICE 

Report By: Director of Children's Services 
 

Wards Affected 

County-wide.  

Purpose 

1. To identify action taken by the Children’s Services Directorate in response to the 
requirements and recommendations of the Inspection of Herefordshire Local 
Authority Fostering Service (2005) undertaken by the Commission for Social Care 
Inspection (CSCI). 

Financial Implications 

2. The immediate response to the report will be contained within the existing budget, 
although futher investment will be required in the service to maintain and improve it. 

Background 

3. Herefordshire Fostering Service provides the main source of accommodation for 
children looked after by the local authority in Herefordshire. At any one time there are 
around 125 households registered by the Service, and about 170 looked after 
children aged from birth to 18. In addition, the authority may call on independent 
fostering agencies (also inspected by CSCI) to provide fostering placements to meet 
specific needs.  

4. Herefordshire has a good record for meeting the needs of looked after children 
effectively, over 90% within family settings such as foster care. All Fostering 
agencies are inspected annually against the relevant regulations and the 
requirements of the National Standards for Fostering. Herefordshire was first 
inspected in March 2004 and then in February 2005.  

The Inspection process and Report 

5. Three inspectors compiled the 2005 report after attending a meeting of the Fostering 
Panel, reviewing policy documents and case files on foster carers and children, and 
undertaking visits to a range of individuals and groups over a two-week period. They 
also circulated a questionnaire to placing social workers, children and foster carers. A 
total of 123 were returned. 

6. The Inspectors were pleased to find that short falls identified in the 2004 inspection 
report (which was only received in final version in July 2004) had been addressed 
promptly, with systems reviewed and developed to ensure improvement. 

7. In 2004, 31 of the 32 National Standards were Inspected.  15 were met in full, there 
were minor shortfalls in 12, and 4 were not met. In 2005, all 32 standards were 

AGENDA ITEM 6

15



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 3 OCTOBER 2005 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Rebecca Plato, Fostering Team Manager, on 
01432 262830 

 
 

CSSCInspectionofHfdsLAFosteringServicereport0.doc  

inspected. 28 were met in full and there were minor shortfalls in 4. This significant 
improvement reflects the work undertaken by staff. 

8. The full text of the Inspection report has been forwarded as a separate document to 
Committee Members and is available to the public on request.  Appended to this 
report is the Action Plan devised by the Fostering Service in response to the 
Statutory Requirements and Recommendations of the Inspectors. This indicates 
progress to date.  The service will be subject to inspection on an annual basis. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Committee comment on the actions taken in response to the 
statutory requirements and recommendations highlighted by the 
Fostering Services Inspection report. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• Full copy of the Inspection Report “Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service”. 

• Chart indicating the nature and number of foster carer households in Herefordshire. 

16



A
ct

io
n 

ta
ke

n 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

th
e 

Fo
st

er
in

g 
In

sp
ec

tio
n 

R
ep

or
t i

ss
ue

d 
in

 J
un

e 
20

05
 

 

Pa
ge

 1
 o

f 4
 

St
at

ut
or

y 
R

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

 
  N

o 
R

eg
ul

at
io

n 
/S

ta
nd

ar
d 

St
at

ut
or

y 
R

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
du

rin
g 

th
is

 In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

om
pl

et
io

n 
D

at
e 

A
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

 to
 th

e 
St

at
ut

or
y 

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 

O
ut

co
m

es
 a

t S
ep

te
m

be
r 2

00
5 

1 
40

/F
S

16
 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
sh

ou
ld

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 
R

eg
ul

at
io

n 
40

.5
 (

d)
 a

nd
 (

f) 
ar

e 
m

et
 i

n 
re

sp
ec

t 
of

 a
gr

ee
m

en
ts

 w
ith

 i
nd

ep
en

de
nt

 
ag

en
ci

es
. 

 
31

st
 M

ay
 2

00
5 

A
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

:  
A

dd
iti

on
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

m
ad

e 
to

 th
e 

In
di

vi
du

al
 P

la
ce

m
en

t 
A

gr
ee

m
en

t w
ith

 In
de

pe
nd

en
t F

os
te

rin
g 

A
ge

nc
ie

s 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

fu
ll 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
e 

st
at

ut
or

y 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
. 

O
ut

co
m

e:
 

A
ll 

In
di

vi
du

al
 P

la
ce

m
en

t A
gr

ee
m

en
ts

 w
ith

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t 

ag
en

ci
es

 n
ow

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
es

e 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
. 

2 
34

/F
S

8 
an

d 
FS

13
 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
sh

ou
ld

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
e 

cu
rr

en
t 

Fo
st

er
 

P
la

ce
m

en
t 

A
gr

ee
m

en
t 

co
nt

ai
ns

 
th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
re

qu
ire

d 
by

 
R

eg
ul

at
io

n 
34

 
(3

) 
S

ch
ed

ul
e 

6 
an

d 
is

 
m

ad
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
at

 th
e 

po
in

t o
f p

la
ce

m
en

t, 
ex

ce
pt

 
in

 
th

e 
ca

se
 

of
 

an
 

em
er

ge
nc

y 
pl

ac
em

en
t w

he
n 

R
eg

ul
at

io
n 

38
 (

1)
 w

ou
ld

 
ap

pl
y.

 
 

31
st
 M

ay
 2

00
5 

A
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

:  
W

e 
be

lie
ve

 th
at

 th
e 

do
cu

m
en

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
gu

id
an

ce
 is

su
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

fo
st

er
in

g 
se

rv
ic

e 
co

ve
rs

 th
is

 re
qu

ire
m

en
t a

s 
ad

vi
se

d 
by

 
th

e 
pr

ev
io

us
 in

sp
ec

tio
n 

re
po

rt.
 W

e 
w

ill
 ta

ke
 s

te
ps

 to
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 p

ra
ct

ic
e 

fu
lly

 c
om

pl
ie

s 
w

ith
 th

e 
gu

id
an

ce
. 

O
ut

co
m

e:
 

A
ch

ie
ve

d 
th

ro
ug

h 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

3 
34

,2
8/

FS
31

 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
sh

ou
ld

 w
or

k 
w

ith
 

th
e 

S
ho

rt-
te

rm
 b

re
ak

s 
S

oc
ia

l W
or

ke
r 

an
d 

S
ha

re
d 

C
ar

er
s 

to
 d

ev
el

op
 p

ol
ic

ie
s 

an
d 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 t

o 
th

em
 a

nd
 t

he
 

ch
ild

re
n 

pl
ac

ed
. 

A
ll 

sh
ar

ed
 c

ar
e 

fo
st

er
 

ca
re

rs
 

ar
e 

gi
ve

n 
a 

pr
of

ile
 

pr
io

r 
to

 
pl

ac
em

en
t. 

C
on

si
de

ra
tio

n 
sh

ou
ld

 
be

 
gi

ve
n 

to
 d

ev
el

op
in

g 
th

is
 d

oc
um

en
t i

n 
lin

e 
w

ith
 R

eg
ul

at
io

n 
34

 (3
) S

ch
ed

ul
e 

6.
 

31
st
 A

ug
us

t 2
00

5 

A
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

: 
Th

e 
Fo

st
er

in
g 

M
an

ag
er

 w
ill

 w
or

k 
in

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
ith

 th
e 

D
is

ab
ili

ty
 T

ea
m

 M
an

ag
er

 a
nd

 th
e 

S
ha

re
d 

C
ar

e 
S

oc
ia

l 
W

or
ke

r t
o 

de
ve

lo
p 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 p

ol
ic

ie
s 

an
d 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
. I

t i
s 

a 
cu

rr
en

t r
eq

ui
re

m
en

t t
ha

t a
ll 

sh
ar

ed
 c

ar
er

s 
re

ce
iv

e 
a 

ch
ild

 
pr

of
ile

 p
rio

r t
o 

pl
ac

em
en

t a
nd

 a
re

 re
qu

ire
d 

to
 s

ig
n 

th
e 

st
an

da
rd

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
e 

ag
re

em
en

t f
ol

lo
w

in
g 

ap
pr

ov
al

.  
 

O
ut

co
m

e:
 

P
ol

ic
y 

an
d 

P
ro

ce
du

re
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t u

nd
er

 w
ay

 a
s 

ag
re

ed
. 

Th
e 

S
ha

re
d 

C
ar

e 
S

oc
ia

l W
or

ke
r p

os
t i

s 
no

w
 v

ac
an

t a
nd

 is
 

cu
rr

en
tly

 b
ei

ng
 a

dv
er

tis
ed

. 

17



A
ct

io
n 

ta
ke

n 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

th
e 

Fo
st

er
in

g 
In

sp
ec

tio
n 

R
ep

or
t i

ss
ue

d 
in

 J
un

e 
20

05
 

 

Pa
ge

 2
 o

f 4
 

G
oo

d 
Pr

ac
tic

e 
R

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns
 fr

om
 th

is
 In

sp
ec

tio
n 

 N
o  

St
an

da
rd

 
G

oo
d 

Pr
ac

tic
e 

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 fr
om

 th
is

 
In

sp
ec

tio
n 

A
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

 to
 th

e 
G

oo
d 

Pr
ac

tic
e 

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 a
nd

 O
ut

co
m

es
 a

t S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
05

 

1 
FS

17
/F

S
15

 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
sh

ou
ld

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 F
am

ily
 P

la
ce

m
en

t 
S

oc
ia

l W
or

ke
r s

ta
ff 

va
ca

nc
ie

s 
ar

e 
re

cr
ui

te
d 

to
 w

ith
in

 a
 

re
as

on
ab

le
 ti

m
es

ca
le

. 
 

A
ct

io
n 

P
la

n:
 

E
ffo

rts
 to

 re
cr

ui
t t

o 
va

ca
nc

ie
s 

ar
e 

co
nt

in
uo

us
 b

ot
h 

in
te

rn
al

ly
 

an
d 

ex
te

rn
al

ly
. 

O
ut

co
m

e:
 

A
dd

iti
on

al
 re

cr
ui

tm
en

t f
or

 th
e 

A
do

pt
io

n 
S

er
vi

ce
 h

as
 

al
le

vi
at

ed
 p

re
ss

ur
e 

on
 o

ve
ra

ll 
te

am
 w

or
kl

oa
d.

 
Fu

ll-
tim

e 
va

ca
nc

y 
in

 F
os

te
rin

g 
S

er
vi

ce
 re

m
ai

ns
 

 

2 
FS

30
 

C
on

si
de

ra
tio

n 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

gi
ve

n 
to

 c
on

fid
en

tia
l d

oc
um

en
ts

 
be

in
g 

se
nt

 o
ut

 to
 P

an
el

 M
em

be
rs

 in
 ta

m
pe

r-
pr

oo
f e

nv
el

op
es

. 
 

A
ct

io
n 

P
la

n:
 

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
n 

m
et

. C
on

fid
en

tia
l d

oc
um

en
ts

 a
re

 n
ow

 
se

nt
 o

ut
 to

 p
an

el
 m

em
be

rs
 in

 ta
m

pe
r p

ro
of

 e
nv

el
op

es
. 

O
ut

co
m

e:
 

N
o 

fu
rth

er
 a

ct
io

n 
 

3 
FS

9 

Th
e 

w
rit

te
n 

C
hi

ld
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
P

ro
ce

du
re

 s
ho

ul
d 

be
 d

ev
el

op
ed

 
to

 in
cl

ud
e 

gu
id

an
ce

 o
n 

w
he

n 
a 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 w
ou

ld
 b

e 
re

fe
rr

ed
 

on
to

 th
e 

P
O

C
A

 li
st

. 

A
ct

io
n 

P
la

n:
 

G
ui

da
nc

e 
on

 re
fe

rr
al

 o
nt

o 
th

e 
P

O
C

A
S

 li
st

 w
ill

 b
e 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 

th
e 

re
le

va
nt

 C
hi

ld
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
P

ro
ce

du
re

. 
O

ut
co

m
e:

 
P

ro
ce

ss
 a

nd
 p

ro
ce

du
re

  a
gr

ee
d 

an
d 

im
pl

em
en

te
d 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
di

sc
us

si
on

 w
ith

 F
os

te
rin

g 
P

an
el

 m
em

be
rs

, A
ge

nc
y 

D
ec

is
io

n 
M

ak
er

 a
nd

 le
ga

l a
dv

is
er

. 

4 
FS

19
 

Th
e 

Fo
st

er
in

g 
Te

am
 M

an
ag

er
 a

nd
 T

ra
in

in
g 

O
ffi

ce
r s

ho
ul

d 
co

nt
in

ue
 to

 d
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 re
vi

ew
 th

e 
tra

in
in

g 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

an
d 

tim
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
to

 F
am

ily
 P

la
ce

m
en

t S
oc

ia
l W

or
ke

rs
 to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
ey

 
ar

e 
re

ce
iv

in
g 

tra
in

in
g.

 
 

A
ct

io
n 

P
la

n:
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
nd

 re
vi

ew
 o

f t
ra

in
in

g 
an

d 
tim

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

to
 

Fa
m

ily
 P

la
ce

m
en

t S
oc

ia
l W

or
ke

rs
 is

 o
ng

oi
ng

 in
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 

w
ith

 th
e 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 O
ffi

ce
r 

O
ut

co
m

e:
 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 fo
r F

am
ily

 P
la

ce
m

en
t S

oc
ia

l W
or

ke
rs

 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

bu
ilt

 in
to

 c
ur

re
nt

 a
nn

ua
l D

ep
ar

tm
en

ta
l T

ra
in

in
g 

P
la

n.
 

18



A
ct

io
n 

ta
ke

n 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

th
e 

Fo
st

er
in

g 
In

sp
ec

tio
n 

R
ep

or
t i

ss
ue

d 
in

 J
un

e 
20

05
 

 

Pa
ge

 3
 o

f 4
 

G
oo

d 
Pr

ac
tic

e 
R

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns
 fr

om
 th

is
 In

sp
ec

tio
n 

(c
on

tin
ue

d)
 

  N
o.

 
 

St
an

da
rd

  
G

oo
d 

Pr
ac

tic
e 

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 fr
om

 th
is

 
In

sp
ec

tio
n 

A
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

 to
 th

e 
G

oo
d 

Pr
ac

tic
e 

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 a
nd

 O
ut

co
m

es
 a

t S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
05

 
 

5 
 

FS
21

 

S
ys

te
m

s 
fo

r e
le

ct
ro

ni
c 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 b
et

w
ee

n 
Fa

m
ily

 
P

la
ce

m
en

t S
oc

ia
l W

or
ke

rs
 a

nd
 C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
S

oc
ia

l 
W

or
ke

rs
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 re
vi

ew
ed

 to
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

er
e 

is
 e

vi
de

nc
e 

of
 c

on
ta

ct
 o

n 
fo

st
er

 c
ar

er
s’

 a
nd

 c
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

fil
es

. 
 

A
ct

io
n 

P
la

n:
 

W
or

k 
on

 th
is

 re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

w
ill

 b
e 

in
co

rp
or

at
ed

 in
to

 o
ur

 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f t

he
 E

le
ct

ro
ni

c 
S

oc
ia

l C
ar

e 
R

ec
or

d.
 

O
ut

co
m

e:
 

A
w

ar
en

es
s 

of
 th

is
 re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n 
ha

s 
be

en
 ra

is
ed

 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t. 

 

6 
 

FS
23

 

Th
e 

Fo
st

er
in

g 
Te

am
 M

an
ag

er
 s

ho
ul

d 
re

vi
ew

 th
e 

tim
in

g 
of

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 e
ve

nt
s 

an
d 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 fo
ru

m
s 

fo
r f

os
te

r 
ca

re
rs

. 
 

A
ct

io
n 

P
la

n:
 

A
dd

iti
on

al
 w

ee
ke

nd
 a

nd
 e

ve
ni

ng
 tr

ai
ni

ng
 e

ve
nt

s 
ar

e 
pl

an
ne

d 
to

 b
ro

ad
en

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 tr

ai
ni

ng
 b

y 
fo

st
er

 c
ar

er
s.

 F
os

te
r c

ar
er

s 
ar

e 
re

im
bu

rs
ed

 c
hi

ld
ca

re
 c

os
ts

 a
nd

 a
ss

is
te

d 
w

ith
 re

sp
ite

 
ca

re
 to

 e
na

bl
e 

th
em

 to
 a

tte
nd

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 c
ou

rs
es

. 
O

ut
co

m
e:

 
Ti

m
in

g 
an

d 
lo

ca
tio

n 
of

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 n
ee

ds
 a

re
 m

on
ito

re
d 

at
 e

ac
h 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

’s
 a

nn
ua

l r
ev

ie
w

 a
nd

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
m

od
ifi

ed
 

ac
co

rd
in

gl
y 

 

7 
 

FS
 3

1 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
sh

ou
ld

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 s
pe

ci
al

is
ed

 
tra

in
in

g 
is

 a
ls

o 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

fo
r S

ha
re

d 
C

ar
e 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

s.
 

 

A
ct

io
n 

P
la

n:
 

A
ll 

po
st

 a
pp

ro
va

l t
ra

in
in

g 
is

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
to

 s
ha

re
d 

ca
re

 fo
st

er
 

ca
re

rs
. A

dd
iti

on
al

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 w
ill

 b
e 

so
ug

ht
 to

 a
dd

re
ss

 
sp

ec
ia

lis
t t

ra
in

in
g 

ne
ed

s 
fo

r t
he

se
 c

ar
er

s.
 

O
ut

co
m

e:
 

A
cc

es
s 

to
 s

pe
ci

al
is

ed
 tr

ai
ni

ng
 n

ow
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

th
ro

ug
h 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
W

ith
 D

is
ab

ili
tie

s 
Te

am
 M

an
ag

er
. 

 

19



A
ct

io
n 

ta
ke

n 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

th
e 

Fo
st

er
in

g 
In

sp
ec

tio
n 

R
ep

or
t i

ss
ue

d 
in

 J
un

e 
20

05
 

 

Pa
ge

 4
 o

f 4
 

G
oo

d 
Pr

ac
tic

e 
R

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns
 fr

om
 th

is
 In

sp
ec

tio
n 

(c
on

tin
ue

d)
 

   N
o.

 
St

an
da

rd
 

 
G

oo
d 

Pr
ac

tic
e 

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 fr
om

 th
is

 
In

sp
ec

tio
n 

(c
on

tin
ue

d)
 

A
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

 to
 th

e 
G

oo
d 

Pr
ac

tic
e 

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 a
nd

 O
ut

co
m

es
 a

t S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
05

 
 

8 
FS

15
 / 

FS
30

 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
w

ou
ld

 d
ev

el
op

 th
e 

w
rit

te
n 

pr
oc

ed
ur

e 
fo

r r
ec

ru
iti

ng
 s

ta
ff 

to
 in

cl
ud

e:
 

 
• 

w
he

re
 c

he
ck

s 
un

de
rta

ke
n 

in
 li

ne
 w

ith
 R

eg
ul

at
io

n 
20

 S
ch

ed
ul

e 
1 

fo
r a

ge
nc

y 
st

af
f a

re
 re

co
rd

ed
 o

n 
fil

e.
 

• 
w

he
re

 w
rit

te
n 

ev
id

en
ce

 o
f e

xp
la

na
tio

ns
 o

f a
ny

 
ga

ps
 in

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t a
nd

 te
le

ph
on

e 
re

fe
re

nc
es

 
ar

e 
re

co
rd

ed
 o

n 
fil

e.
 

• 
th

e 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 fo
r v

et
tin

g 
P

an
el

 m
em

be
rs

, i
n 

lin
e 

w
ith

 S
ch

ed
ul

e 
1.

 

   
• 

O
ut

co
m

e:
 a

ch
ie

ve
d 

 
• 

O
ut

co
m

e:
 a

ch
ie

ve
d 

  
• 

O
ut

co
m

e:
 d

et
ai

le
d 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 fo

r f
os

te
rin

g 
an

d 
ad

op
tio

n 
ap

po
in

tm
en

ts
 o

f a
ge

nc
y 

an
d 

P
an

el
 

m
em

be
rs

 a
re

 n
ow

 b
ei

ng
 d

ev
el

op
ed

. 
 

 

20



Herefordshire Local Authority
Fostering Service
Children`s Resource Team 

Moor House 

Widemarsh Common 

Hereford

Herefordshire

HR4 9NA 

10th,21st, 22nd,23rd, 24th, 25th28th
February 2005

Fostering Services 



Commission for Social Care Inspection 

Launched in April 2004, the Commission for Social Care Inspection (CSCI) is the single 
inspectorate for social care in England. 

The Commission combines the work formerly done by the Social Services Inspectorate 

(SSI), the SSI/Audit Commission Joint Review Team and the National Care Standards 

Commission.

The role of CSCI is to: 

 Promote improvement in social care 

 Inspect all social care - for adults and children - in the public, private and voluntary 

sectors

 Publish annual reports to Parliament on the performance of social care and on the 

state of the social care market 

 Inspect and assess ‘Value for Money’ of council social services 

 Hold performance statistics on social care 

 Publish the ‘star ratings’ for council social services 

 Register and inspect services against national standards 

 Host the Children’s Rights Director role. 

Inspection Methods & Findings 

SECTION B of this report summarises key findings and evidence from this inspection. The 

following 4-point scale is used to indicate the extent to which standards have been met or 

not met by placing the assessed level alongside the phrase "Standard met?" 

The 4-point scale ranges from: 

4 - Standard Exceeded (Commendable) 

3 - Standard Met (No Shortfalls) 

2 - Standard Almost Met (Minor Shortfalls) 

1 - Standard Not Met (Major Shortfalls) 

'O' or blank in the 'Standard met?' box denotes standard not assessed on this occasion. 

'9' in the 'Standard met?' box denotes standard not applicable. 

'X' is used where a percentage value or numerical value is not applicable.



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 1 

FOSTERING SERVICE INFORMATION 

Local Authority Fostering Service? YES

Name of Authority 
Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service 

Address
Children`s Resource Team, Moor House, Widemarsh 
Common, Hereford, Herefordshire, HR4 9NA 

Local Authority Manager 
Rebecca Plato 

Tel No: 
01432 262839 

Fax  No: Address
Children`s Resource Team, Moor House, Widemarsh 
Common, Hereford, Herefordshire, HR4 9NA Email Address 

Registered Fostering Agency (IFA) NO

Name of Agency Tel No 

Fax No Address

Email Address 

Registered Number of IFA 

Name of Registered Provider 

Name of Registered Manager (if applicable) 

Date of first registration Date of latest registration certificate 

Registration Conditions Apply ? NO

Date of last inspection 
March
2004



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 2 

Date of Inspection Visit 
10th,21st, 22nd, 23rd, 24th, 25th,
28th February 2005 ID Code 

Time of Inspection Visit 9.00 am 

Name of Inspector 1 Dawn Taylor 081289

Name of Inspector 2 Sally Woodget 

Name of Inspector 3 Jacqueline Dunster 

Name of Inspector 4

Name of Lay Assessor (if applicable) 
Lay assessors are members of the public 
independent of the CSCI.  They 
accompany inspectors on some 
inspections and bring a different 
perspective to the inspection process. 

Name of Specialist (e.g. 
Interpreter/Signer) (if applicable) 

Name of Establishment Representative at 
the time of inspection 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 3 

CONTENTS 

Introduction to Report and Inspection 
Inspection visits
Description of Fostering Service 

Part A: Summary of Inspection Findings 
Reports and Notifications to the Local Authority and Secretary of State 
Implementation of Statutory Requirements from last Inspection 
Statutory Requirements from this Inspection 
Good Practice Recommendations from this Inspection 

Part B: Inspection Methods & Findings 
(National Minimum Standards For Fostering Services) 
1. Statement of purpose 

2. Fitness to carry on or manage a fostering service 

3. Management of the fostering service 

4. Securing and promoting welfare 

5. Recruiting, checking, managing, supporting and training staff and foster 

carers

6. Records  

7. Fitness of premises  

8. Financial requirements 

9. Fostering panels 

10. Short-term breaks 

11. Family and friend carers 

Part C: Lay Assessor’s Summary (where applicable) 

Part D:  Provider's Response 
D.1.  Provider’s comments 
D.2.  Action Plan  
D.3. Provider’s agreement 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 4 

INTRODUCTION TO REPORT AND INSPECTION 

Independent and local authority fostering services which fall within the jurisdiction of the 
Commission for Social Care Inspection (CSCI) are subject to inspection, to establish if the 
service is meeting the National Minimum Standards for Fostering Services and the 
requirements of the Care Standards Act 2000, the Fostering Services Regulations 2002 
and the Children Act 1989 as amended. 

This document summarises the inspection findings of the CSCI in respect of Herefordshire 
Local Authority Fostering Service.  The inspection findings relate to the National Minimum 
Standards for Fostering Services published by the Secretary of State under sections 23 
and 49 of the Care Standards Act 2000, for independent and local authority fostering 
services respectively. 

The Fostering Services Regulations 2002 are secondary legislation, with which a service 
provider must comply.  Service providers are expected to comply fully with the National 
Minimum Standards. The National Minimum standards will form the basis for judgements 
by the CSCI in relation to independent fostering agencies regarding registration, the 
imposition and variation of registration conditions and any enforcement action, and in 
relation to local authority fostering services regarding notices to the local authority and 
reports to the Secretary of State under section 47 of the Care Standards Act 2000. 
The report follows the format of the National Minimum Standards and the numbering 
shown in the report corresponds to that of the standards. 

The report will show the following: 

 Inspection methods used 

 Key findings and evidence 

 Overall ratings in relation to the standards 

 Compliance with the Regulations 

 Notifications to the Local Authority and Reports to the Secretary of State 

 Required actions on the part of the provider 

 Recommended good practice 

 Summary of the findings 

 Report of the Lay Assessor (where relevant) 

 Providers response and proposed action plan to address findings 

This report is a public document. 

INSPECTION VISITS 

Inspections will be undertaken in line with the agreed regulatory framework with additional 
visits as required.  This is in accordance with the provisions of the Care Standards Act 
2000.  The following inspection methods have been used in the production of this report. 
The report represents the inspector's findings from the evidence found at the specified 
inspection dates.



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 5 

                                       BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE SERVICES PROVIDED. 

Herefordshire Council operates a Children’s Resource Team, which provides a fostering and 
adoption service. 
The Children’s Resource Team is line managed by the Children’s Service Manager 
(Resources) who is responsible for the overall management of the Fostering, Adoption, 
Family Support and Aftercare Service.  The Fostering Team Manager is responsible for the 
fostering service and has an acting manager role in the absence of the Adoption Team 
Manager of the adoption service. 
The Family Placement Social Workers in the Children’s Resource Team carry both fostering 
and adoption caseloads. 
The fostering service provides a range of foster care to children and young people who are 
Looked After by Herefordshire Council, which includes emergency contract care, short term 
foster care, kinship care, teenage placement scheme, middle years scheme, long term foster 
care, shared care and respite care. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 6 

PART A SUMMARY OF INSPECTION FINDINGS 

Inspector’s Summary 

(This is an overview of the inspector’s findings, which includes good practice, quality issues, 
areas to be addressed or developed and any other concerns.) 

This is an overview of the Inspector’s findings, which includes good practice, quality issues, 
areas to be addressed or developed and any other concerns. 
This inspection took place over eight days in February 2005.  It found that the majority of the 
National Minimum Standards had been met or partially met.
Where appropriate young people living with foster carers were asked to complete 
questionnaires.  Questionnaires were also sent to foster carers and Children’s Social 
Workers.
Sixty-eight Children’s Social Worker questionnaires, twenty-six foster parent questionnaires 
and twenty-nine young peoples questionnaires were completed. 
The questionnaires were used to inform Requirements and Recommendations set out in this 
report.
The Fostering Team Manager provided the Inspectors with comprehensive and informative 
pre inspection information.  The pre inspection questionnaires demonstrated that the 
Fostering Service was aware of areas where it met practice and areas where practice 
needed to be developed.  It also clearly stated action that had been taken to meet 
Requirements and Recommendations from the last inspection report 
The Inspectors found that where short falls had been identified in the previous inspection 
report the Children’s Resource Team had reviewed and developed systems to ensure 
improvement and have ensured many of the scores within this report have moved from one 
to three with relatively small input and within short time scales.

Statement of Purpose.
1 of 1 Standard was met.
There was a Statement of Purpose and Children’s Guide that was known to staff and 
described practice in line with policies, procedures and staff guidance for Family Placement 
Social Workers and foster carers.  The Statement of Purpose and Children’s Guide have 
been developed in line with guidance in the Children’s Services Handbook, Foster Carers 
Handbooks and Inter-Agency Guidelines.  

Fitness to provide or manage a fostering service.
2 of 2 Standards were met. 
The Manager of the fostering service possessed the necessary business and management 
skills to manage the work efficiently and effectively.  Herefordshire Council had followed 
clear staff vetting policies and procedures to ensure all checks and references were 
undertaken and suitable for any persons managing the fostering service.

Management of fostering service.
2 of 2 Standards were met. 
In questionnaires, interviews and group discussions Managers, Family Placement Social 
Workers and foster carers were able to describe well-established lines of communication 
and accountability.



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 7 

Effective systems were in place that enabled the Fostering Team Manager to monitor a 
range of matters that were used to inform practice and improve the quality of foster care 
provided by the service.

Securing and promoting welfare.
2 of 9 Standards were partially met and 7 were met. 
At the time of this inspection the fostering service used LAC documentations as the Foster 
Placement Agreement.  Herefordshire Council need to ensure that the content of the 
documents cover all the matters set out under Regulation 34(3), Schedule 6.
Foster carers and children are supported by a network of professionals who liaise effectively.  
In interviews and questionnaires foster carers and children gave positive feedback and 
examples of good practice with regard to the support they received from Family Placement 
Social Workers. 

Recruiting, checking, managing, supporting and training staff and foster carers.
1 of 9 Standards was partially met and 8 were met. 
Foster carers are managed, trained and supported by a team of Family Placement Social 
Workers who are appropriately experienced and qualified.  There are systems in place that 
promote supervision, team meeting and access to corporate and specialist training.  All 
carers have access to support groups, the Emergency Duty Team, Herefordshire Education 
Liaison Support Service and a child psychologist.  Herefordshire Council need to ensure that 
vacancies to the Children’s Resource Team are recruited to within a reasonable time frame.
Herefordshire Council should develop the written staff vetting procedure to ensure that there 
is written evidence of explanations of any gaps in employment and telephone references 
maintained on file.
Herefordshire Council should ensure that Regulation 40.5 (d) and (f) are met in respect of 
agreements with independent agencies.

Records.
2 of 2 Standards were met. 
Herefordshire Council have and are developing policies, procedures and staff guidance to 
ensure that up to date and comprehensive case records are maintained for each child in 
foster care and each foster carer.

Fitness of premises for use as fostering service.
1 of 1 Standard was met. 
The premises used as offices for the fostering service are adequate for the purpose. 

Financial requirements.
3 of 3 Standards were met. 
In interviews and pre inspection questionnaires Managers were able to describe clear 
policies and procedures relating to finance.  

Fostering panel.
1 of 1 Standard was met. 
Herefordshire Council has developed polices and procedures with regard to the Fostering 
Panel.  These policies and procedures were in line with the practice described by Family 
Placement Social Workers and foster carers.  The Council have reviewed the membership of 
the Panel in line with the Fostering Service National Minimum Standards and Fostering 
Services Regulations 2002.
The Fostering Team Manager described procedures for vetting checks of panel members’ 
inline with Schedule 1.



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 8 

Short-term breaks.
1 of 1 Standard was partially met. 
Herefordshire Council should apply the Fostering Services Standards and Fostering 
Services Regulations 2002 to this service.  As part of this process Herefordshire Council 
may identify aspects, which the scheme may have difficulty in meeting.  The Commission 
recognises Herefordshire Council will need to apply the Regulations and Standards in a 
proportionate way.  Herefordshire Council should work with the Short-term Breaks Social 
Worker and Shared Carers to develop policies and procedures appropriate to them and the 
children placed. 
All shared-care foster carers are given a profile of a child prior to placement.  Consideration 
should be given to developing this document in line with Regulation 34(3) Schedule 6. 
All shared-care foster carers are required to sign the standard foster care agreement. 
In interview and questionnaires shared-care foster carers described positive support from 
the newly appointed social worker.  Positive comments were also made about the collation 
of a specialised library.

Family and friends as carers.
1 of 1 Standard was met. 
The fostering service has clear procedures for assessing, approving and supporting foster 
carers who are family and friends of the child placed.   



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 9 

Reports and Notifications to the Local Authority and Secretary 
of State 

(Local Authority Fostering Services Only) 

THIS SECTION IS NO LONGER APPLICABLE. 

The following statutory Reports or Notifications are to be made under the Care Standards 
Act as a result of the findings of this inspection: 

NO
Report to the Secretary of State under section 47(3) of the Care Standards Act 
2000 that the Commission considers the Local Authority's fostering service 
satisfies the regulatory requirements: 

NO
Notice to the Local Authority under section 47(5) of the Care Standards Act 2000 
of failure(s) to satisfy regulatory requirements in their fostering service which are 
not substantial, and specifying the action the Commission considers the Authority 
should take to remedy the failure(s), informing the Secretary of State of that 
Notice:

NO
Report to the Secretary of State under section 47(4)(a) of the Care Standards Act 
of a failure by a Local Authority fostering service to satisfy regulatory requirements 
which is not considered substantial: 

NO
Report to the Secretary of State under section 47(1) of the Care Standards Act 
2000 of substantial failure to satisfy regulatory requirements by a Local Authority 
fostering service: 

The grounds for the above Report or Notice are: 

Implementation of Statutory Requirements from Last Inspection

Requirements from last Inspection visit fully actioned? 
NA



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 10 

COMPLIANCE WITH CONDITIONS OF REGISTRATION (IF APPLICABLE) 

(Registered Independent Fostering Agencies only) 

Providers and managers of registered independent fostering agencies must comply 
with statutory conditions of their registration.  The conditions applying to this 
registration are listed below, with the inspector's assessment of compliance from 
the evidence at the time of this inspection. 

Condition Compliance

Comments

Condition Compliance

Comments

Condition Compliance

Comments

Lead Inspector Dawn Taylor Signature

Second Inspector Sally Woodget Signature

Third Inspector Jacqueline Dunster 

Regulation Manager Alan McCardle Signature

Date



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 11 

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS IDENTIFIED DURING THIS INSPECTION 

Action Plan: The appropriate Officer of the Local Authority or the Registered Person (as 
applicable) is requested to provide the Commission with an Action Plan, which indicates how 
requirements are to be addressed.  This action plan will be made available on request to the 
Area Office. 

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS 

Identified below are areas addressed in the main body of the report which indicate non-
compliance with the Care Standards Act 2000, the Children Act 1989, the Fostering Services 
Regulations 2002, or the National Minimum Standards for Fostering Services.  The Authority 
or Registered Person(s) is/are required to comply within the given time scales in order to 
comply with the Regulatory Requirements for fostering services. 

No. Regulation Standard * Requirement Timescale
for action 

1 40 FS16

Herefordshire Council should ensure that 
Regulation 40.5 (d) and (f) are met in respect 
of agreements with independent agencies.

31st May 
2005

2 34

FS8

FS13

Herefordshire Council should ensure the 
current Foster Placement Agreement 
contains the information required by 
Regulation 34 (3) Schedule 6 and is made 
available at the point of placement, except in 
the case of an emergency placement when 
Regulation 38 (1) would apply. 

31st May 
2005

3 34, 28 FS31

Herefordshire Council should work with the 
Short-term Breaks Social Worker and Shared 
Carers to develop policies and procedures 
appropriate to them and the children placed. 
All shared-care foster carers are given a 
profile of a child prior to placement.
Consideration should be given to developing 
this document in line with Regulation 34(3) 
Schedule 6. 

31st

August
2005



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 12 

 GOOD PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THIS INSPECTION 

Identified below are areas addressed in the main body of the report which relate to the 
National Minimum Standards and are seen as good practice issues which should be 
considered for implementation by the Authority or Registered Person(s). 

No. Refer to 
Standard * 

Recommendation Action 

1

FS17

FS15

Herefordshire Council should ensure that Family Placement Social 
Worker staff vacancies are recruited to within a reasonable timescale. 

2 FS30
Consideration should be given to confidential documents being sent out 
to panel embers in tamper proof envelopes. 

3 FS9
The written Child Protection Procedure should be developed to include 
guidance on when a foster carer would be referred onto the POCA list. 

4 FS19
The Fostering Team Manager and Training Officer should continue to 
develop and review the training available and time available to Family 
Placement Social Workers to ensure they are receiving training.

5 FS21
Systems for electronic communications between Family Placement 
Social Workers and Children’s Social Workers should be reviewed to 
ensure there is evidence of contact on foster carers and children’s files.   

6 FS23
The Fostering Team Manager should review the timing of training events 
and foster carers forums for foster carers.

7 FS31
Herefordshire Council should ensure that specialised training is also 
available for shared-care foster carers. 

8

FS15

FS30

Herefordshire Council should develop the written procedure for recruiting 
staff to include

 where checks undertaken in line with Regulation 20 Schedule 1 
for agency staff are recorded on file. 

 where written evidence of explanations of any gaps in 
employment and telephone references are recorded on file. 

 the procedures for vetting panel members’ inline with Schedule 1. 

* Note: You may refer to the relevant standard in the remainder of the report by omitting 
the 2-letter prefix e.g FS10 refers to Standard 10. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 13 

PART B INSPECTION METHODS & FINDINGS 

The following inspection methods have been used in the production of this report 

Number of Inspector days spent 11

Survey of placing authorities YES

Foster carer survey YES

Foster children survey YES

Checks with other organisations and Individuals YES

 Directors of Social services YES

 Child protection officer YES

 Specialist advisor (s) NO

 Local Foster Care Association NO

Tracking Individual welfare arrangements YES

 Interview with children YES

 Interview with foster carers YES

 Interview with agency staff YES

 Contact with parents YES

 Contact with supervising social workers YES

 Examination of files YES

Individual interview with manager YES

Information from provider YES

Individual interviews with key staff YES

Group discussion with staff YES

Interview with panel chair YES

Observation of foster carer training YES

Observation of foster panel YES

Inspection of policy/practice documents YES

Inspection of records YES

Interview with individual child YES

Date of Inspection 10/02/05

Time of Inspection 9.00AM

Duration Of Inspection (hrs) X



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 14 

The following pages summarise the key findings and evidence from this inspection, 
together with the CSCI assessment of the extent to which the National Minimum 
Standards have been met. The following scale is used to indicate the extent to which 
standards have been met or not met by placing the assessed level alongside the phrase 
"Standard met?"

The scale ranges from: 
4 - Standard Exceeded       (Commendable) 
3 - Standard Met        (No Shortfalls) 
2 - Standard Almost Met      (Minor Shortfalls) 
1 - Standard Not Met        (Major Shortfalls) 

"0" in the "Standard met?" box denotes standard not assessed on this occasion. 
"9" in the "Standard met?" box denotes standard not applicable. 
“X” is used where a percentage value or numerical value is not applicable.



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 15 

Statement of Purpose 

The intended outcome for the following standard is: 

There is clear statement of the aims and objectives of the fostering service and 
the fostering service ensures that they meet those aims and objectives. 

Standard 1 (1.1 - 1.6) 
There is a clear statement of the aims and objectives of the fostering service and of 
what facilities and services they provide. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

Herefordshire Council Fostering Service has a Statement of Purpose, which sets out aims 
and objectives and the service it provides.  The Statement of Purpose gives an outline of the 
management and staff structure. 
The Statement of Purpose has been developed to include reference to the Service’s policies 
and procedures regarding behaviour management of children in foster care, the use of 
physical intervention and training and support to foster carers in physical intervention.  It also 
includes reference to the Service’s policies on child protection and anti-bullying. 
The Statement of Purpose was last reviewed, updated and approved by elected members of 
the Council on the 20th January 2005.  The same body will consider any subsequent 
amendments of the Statement of Purpose.
Herefordshire Council Fostering Service has produced a Children’s Guide, which has been 
made available to all children using the service.  In addition to the Children’s Guide all 
children are also given a copy of the BAAF fostering document – ‘What it is and what it 
means – A guide for children and young people’. 
The Children’s Guide has been produced with the input of a group of young people who are 
or have been in the Looked After System.  A Project Manager in partnership with the 
Children’s Advocacy Worker has undertaken this work. 
The Children’s Guide includes comments from children and young people and information 
about availability in other formats and languages. 
The Fostering Team Manager informed the Inspectors of plans to include the Children’s 
Guide as part of a child friendly information pack being compiled as a result of consultation 
with children via the ‘Pack Attack’ project. 
The reference group for Looked After Children will assist in the improvement and monitoring 
of the Children’s Guide and fostering services.   
Placing and prospective placing authorities other than Herefordshire are sent a copy of the 
Statement of Purpose during the referral process by the Family Placement Social Worker.
Prospective placing authorities can also access this document via the Herefordshire web 
site.
In interviews and questionnaires foster carers were aware of the Statement of Purpose. 
The Foster Carers Handbooks and Fostering Network Safer Caring Booklet are given to all 
foster carers.   
The Children’s Services Handbook and Inter-Agency Guidelines and Protocols are available 
to all staff in the office.  All policies and procedures accurately reflect the Statement of 
Purpose.



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 16 

Fitness to Carry On or Manage a Fostering Service 

The intended outcomes for the following set of standards are: 

The fostering service is provided and managed by those with the appropriate 
skills and experience to do so efficiently and effectively and by those who are 
suitable to work with children. 

Standard 2 (2.1 - 2.4) 
The people involved in carrying on and managing the fostering service possess the 
necessary business and management skills and financial expertise to manage the 
work efficiently and effectively and have the necessary knowledge and experience of 
childcare and fostering to do so in a professional manner. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The Fostering Team Manager is a qualified social worker with a Masters Degree in Social 
Work and has completed the Certificate in Management Studies at Aston University.  She 
has extensive previous experience of working with children and staff teams at a 
management level.
In interviews and questionnaires the Fostering Team Manager demonstrated knowledge of 
effective leadership of staff and management approaches. 

Standard 3 (3.1 - 3.4) 
Any persons carrying on or managing the fostering service are suitable people to run 
a business concerned with safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The Inspectors examined the staff vetting files for the Fostering Team Manager at the last 
inspection.
A current Enhanced CRB check was held on file. 
All appropriate checks under Schedule 1 had been undertaken for the Fostering Team 
Manager.
Herefordshire Council has a policy that will ensure that all staff and panel members will have 
CRB checks renewed every three years. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 17 

Management of the Fostering Service 

The intended outcomes for the following set of standards are: 

The fostering service is managed ethically and efficiently, delivering a good 
quality foster care service and avoiding confusion and conflicts of role. 

Standard 4 (4.1 – 4.5) 
There are clear procedures for monitoring and controlling the activities of the 
fostering service and ensuring quality performance. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The Fostering Team Manager informed the Inspectors of systems for monitoring the 
Children’s Resource Service.  This included: 
1. Annual caseload monitoring including monitoring all tasks, allocation and enquiries.  

Workload is adjusted annually accordingly.  
2.  Fortnightly monitoring of the team resource i.e. availability of foster carers which is then 

fed to childcare teams and management meetings. 
3. Monitoring through the fostering register any changes in approvals/withdrawals on an 

annual basis.  The Fostering Team Manager presents quarterly reports on the 
fluctuations of service as part of the quarterly Children’s Services Information.  This is 
circulated to the Managers of Children’s Services.  This monitors performance and 
stability.  This data contributes to the overall quality and performance of the Service. 

4. A report is produced by the Fostering Team Manager to the Fostering Panel on an 
annual basis providing an overview of resources and quality of resources. 

The data collected met Regulation 42, Schedule 7 and enabled the Fostering Team 
Manager to monitor and improve the quality of foster care provided by the service.
All monitoring procedures have been used to informed Quality Protects and Best Value 
Review.  This standard of monitoring at the time of this inspection was over and above the 
Requirements set out for Local Authority Fostering Services.  This practice is to be 
commended.
In interviews and questionnaires Family Placement Social Workers and foster carers 
described clear and effective lines of communication and support. 
There are financial procedures and information available to purchasers of services and 
others.  These procedures are reviewed on an individual basis for each child and as a 
fostering service.
Regulation 46 requires the ‘registered person’ to inform the Commission of any changes in 
manager or management structure.  Herefordshire Council has agreed that although this 
Regulation excludes local authority services it would be good practice for Herefordshire to 
notify the Commission of any changes. 
A Conflict of Interest Policy and the Foster Panel Policy have been developed to meet 
Standard 4.5, Regulation 20 (6), (7).  The administration staff described good practice in 
relation to potential conflicts of interest and positive working practice. 
The Council has employed a Performance and Information Manager to advise and assist in 
the monitoring and quality assurance of practices and processes within Children’s Services. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 18 

Number of statutory notifications made to CSCI in last 12 months: N/A

Death of a child placed with foster parents. 0

Referral to Secretary of State of a person working for the service as 
unsuitable to work with children. 

0

Serious illness or accident of a child. 0

Outbreak of serious infectious disease at a foster home. 0

Actual or suspected involvement of a child in prostitution. 0

Serious incident relating to a foster child involving calling the police to a 
foster home. 

1

Serious complaint about a foster parent. 1

Initiation of child protection enquiry involving a child. 6

Number of complaints made to CSCI about the agency in the past 12 months: 1

Number of the above complaints which were substantiated: 0

Standard 5 (5.1 - 5.4) 
The fostering service is managed effectively and efficiently. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The Fostering Team Manager has a job description, which clearly defines the lines of 
accountability between staff and carers. 
There is a procedure for an identified staff member to act up in the absence of the Fostering 
Team Manager.
The Children’s Resource Team is line managed by the Children’s Service Manager 
(Resources) who is responsible for the overall management of the Fostering, Adoption, 
Family Support and Aftercare Service.  The Fostering Team Manager is responsible for the 
fostering service and has an acting manager role in the absence of the Adoption Team 
Manager of the adoption service.  This system in reciprocated in the absence of the 
Fostering Team Manager. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 19 

Securing and Promoting Welfare 

The intended outcome for the following set of standards is: 

The fostering service promotes and safeguards the child/young person's physical, 
mental and emotional welfare. 

Standard 6 (6.1 - 6.9) 
The fostering service makes available foster carers who provide a safe, healthy and 
nurturing environment. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The foster homes visited by the Inspectors’ demonstrated accommodation appropriate to the 
needs of the young people placed.  The homes were well furnished and decorated and 
maintained to a good standard of cleanliness.   
Young people accommodated had their own bedroom apart from where an assessment of 
need had determined otherwise. 
Home Check Services assess potential hazards and provide necessary equipment when 
requested.  In interviews with foster carers and Family Placement Social Workers the 
Inspectors were informed of annual unannounced visits and annual health and safety visits. 
The Inspectors sampled five foster carer files and found that the format and recording of 
these checks were consistent and in line with new procedures introduced since the last 
inspection.
All foster carers attend preparation training, which covers health and safety issues.  Written 
guidelines on health and safety were contained in the Foster Carers’ Handbooks.
The Fostering Team Manager and Family Placement Social Workers described procedures 
for ensuring foster carers transport was safe and appropriate to the needs of the young 
people placed.  The Inspectors sampled five foster carer files and found that a checklist was 
maintained on each file. 
An additional checklist is now completed prior to a carer’s review and is taken to panel.  This 
document monitors unannounced visits, CRB checks, car checks and is used as part of the 
formal supervision sessions between foster carers and Family Placement Social Workers.
This checklist is signed off by the Fostering Team Manager before the foster carers review. 
It was made clear to the Inspectors that foster carers were aware that they might be 
interviewed or visited as part of the Commissions inspection process. 

Standard 7 (7.1 - 7.7) 
The fostering service ensures that children and young people, and their families, are 
provided with foster care services which value diversity and promote equality. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

Herefordshire Council’s Training Programme provides induction and training in valuing 
diversity.
Herefordshire Council has a policy that was made available to all Family Placement Social 
Workers and foster carers entitled Equal Opportunities Policy. 
Special arrangements required to meet the needs of a child are identified through core 
assessments, which inform LAC documentation for the child.  Specific arrangements are 
reviewed at statutory reviews.   
In interviews foster carers were able to describe appropriate care and practice to meet the 
individual needs of young people.   



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 20 

Foster carers were able to demonstrate positive relationships with schools and clubs to 
ensure that the individual child’s welfare was developed and promoted.  Case tracking files 
demonstrated that these arrangements were in line with the child’s wishes and minutes of 
review meetings. 
Family Placement Social Workers, foster carers and the Fostering Team Manager were able 
to describe how a child with a disability was assessed and supported to maximise their 
potential within a foster home.  The Fostering Team Manager described how appropriate 
equipment or adaptations to carers’ homes or vehicles would be provided if required, foster 
carers confirmed this. 
During the last inspection foster carers identified training they had attended relating to 
disabilities but a number requested training specific to working with young people with 
learning difficulties.  This request was fed back to the Fostering Team Manager and during 
this inspection the Inspectors were told that a Shared Care Social Worker had been 
appointed to supervise the Shared Care Scheme for Children with Disabilities.  This worker 
and a shared care foster carer have and will be participating in providing specialist training 
on disability issues together with Childcare Social Workers from the Disabilities Team.  
Further training will also be brought in from the Barnados Project if required, with the 
assistance of the Children’s Services Training Officer.

Standard 8 (8.1 - 8.7) 
Local authority fostering services, and voluntary agencies placing children in their 
own right, ensure that each child or young person placed in foster care is carefully 
matched with a carer capable of meeting her/his assessed needs.  For agencies 
providing foster carers to local authorities, those agencies ensure that they offer 
carers only if they represent appropriate matches for a child for whom a local 
authority is seeking a carer. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 2

The Children’s Services Handbooks set out the roles and responsibilities with regard to 
placement arrangements. 
The Fostering Team Manager and Family Placement Social Workers described the process 
followed to match a child with an external or out of county placement.  The child’s Social 
Worker makes initial enquiries of suitably registered potential service providers.  The Social 
Worker decides on the most appropriate placement and makes recommendation to the 
Children’s Resource Panel (CRP).  The CRP makes the decision on the placement.  When a 
decision has been made, the Contracts Officer confirms if the selected provider has a Pre-
Placement Agreement.  The Social Worker completes an Individual Placement Agreement 
(IPA), which is forwarded to the Contracts Officer and then signed by the Children’s Service 
Manager.
The Inspectors sampled files of information held on external services accessed by 
Herefordshire Council.  These contained letters requesting specific information – NCSC and 
CSCI inspection reports, confirmation of registration and copies of current Statement of 
Purposes.  Where information was not on file there was evidence that that information had 
been requested.
The Fostering Duty Officer or Team Manager takes internal referrals via Children’s Social 
Workers.  A Child Checklist and Matching Form is completed with the Family Placement 
Social Worker in partnership and discussion with the child’s Social Worker.  This process 
has been introduced and been regularly reviewed over the last year and considers matching, 
risks and the child’s needs.  This information is used to identify any appropriate foster carers.  
Information relating to appropriate matches is passed back to the child’s Social Worker.  The 
files sampled by the Inspectors relating to recently made placements contained detailed 
referral and matching information.  The system ensures all files contain detailed written 
information regarding the matching process.



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 21 

The Children’s Service Handbook gives written guidance of the checks that should be 
carried out prior to placement as part of the matching process. A written record of these is 
kept on file. 
Herefordshire Council use the Looked After Children (LAC) documentation Placement Plan 
Part 1, Essential Information Part 1 and Care Plan as the Foster Placement Agreement at 
the point of placement.  Inspectors sampled this documentation.  Attention was focused on 
LAC documentation completed over the last year.  The Inspectors found that in one case 
Schedule 6 (2) and (4) were not clearly stated and in the second case Schedule 6 (4) was 
not clearly stated (see Standard 13).  The Inspectors acknowledge that if the format of the 
documents remain the same, the clarity of this information being found in the documents is 
based on the skill and understanding of Regulation 34(3) by the completing Social Worker.   
Since the last inspection work has been undertaken to ensure the quality of the LAC 
documents.
The Fostering Team Manager has undertaken an informal audit of LAC documentation of 
children placed from the beginning of November 2004.  Discussions have taken place with 
individual Children’s Social Workers and in Team Meetings. 
The responsibility for the completion of these documents has been reviewed and is now the 
responsibility of the Childcare Team Manager or their representative. 
The Children’s Service Handbook has been revised and gives written guidance on the 
completion of LAC documents as Foster Placement Agreements. 
The Independent Planning and Review Service are developing a schedule of monitoring and 
developing systems, which will include the monitoring of LAC documents. 
Herefordshire Council should continue this work to ensure that the information required by 
Regulation 34 (3) is made available at the point of placement, except in the case of an 
emergency placement when Regulation 38 (1) would apply.  This is a Requirement that was 
made in the last inspection report and has been reviewed with a revised timescale.
Foster carers described the process of information sharing meetings and introductions of 
young people to a foster family.
The Children’s Services Handbook gives a detailed agenda for the pre-placement meetings, 
which should ensure all appropriate topics are discussed and recorded. 

Standard 9 (9.1 - 9.8) 
The fostering service protects each child or young person from all forms of abuse, 
neglect, exploitation and deprivation. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

Management systems are in place that collated information on the circumstances, numbers 
and outcome of all allegations of neglect and abuse of a child in foster care.  This is updated 
and monitored by the Fostering Team Manager.
In interviews and questionnaires the Fostering Team Manager demonstrated that she has an 
overview of child protection concerns through the collation of the database and staff 
supervision.  This information is used to identify patterns of concerns, which are then 
addressed through annual reviews of foster carers and regular supervision sessions with 
Family Placement Social Workers. 
Herefordshire Council has a range of policies, procedures and staff guidance in place.
These policies, procedures and staff guidance are contained in the Foster Carers 
Handbooks, Inter-Agency Guidelines and Protocols and Children’s Services Handbook. 
In addition to Herefordshire Council’s policies, procedures and staff guidance foster carers 
and Family Placement Social Workers have access to a range of leaflets and publications 
providing information and guidance. 
The written Child Protection Procedure should be developed to include guidance on when a 
foster carer would be referred onto the POCA list. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 22 

Family Placement Social Workers are working to ensure that each foster carer develops 
their own Safe Caring Policy.  Each Carer’s Safe Caring Policy will be monitored during 
regular supervision and shared with the children placed and their Social Worker. 
Foster carers described the action they would take if they were concerned about the welfare 
of a child or if a child was to make an allegation. 
Since the last inspection Herefordshire Council have ensured foster carers are aware of the 
procedures in place if an allegation was made to support the foster carer and their family.
Existing measure have been reinforced through a foster carer newsletter to all carers 
together with a Fostering Network Information Leaflet about the independent support service 
available to all carers.
Pre-approval training and post-approval training ensures that foster carers have training in 
Child Protection, Bullying and Whistle blowing.  Foster carers and Family Placement Social 
Workers have accessed ACPC joint training events.
The policies, procedures and staff guidance contained in the Foster Carers Handbooks 
makes clear to foster carers that corporal punishment is not acceptable.
Regulation 13 requires providers to ‘prepare and implement a written policy on acceptable 
measures of control, restraint and discipline of children placed with foster parents’ and to 
‘take all reasonable steps to ensure that no child placed with foster parents is subject to any 
measure of control, restraint or discipline, which is excessive or unreasonable’, it is therefore 
a reasonable expectation that where appropriate foster carers will be provided with restraint 
training as part of the providers measure to implement their policy.  This matter has been 
reviewed and training is being developed to ensure this matter is addressed.  A training 
course entitled Managing Difficult Behaviour is available to foster carers as part of the 
training programme for 2005. 
The Fostering Team Manager informed Inspectors that where an assessment of risk 
identified that a young person needed to be restrained, appropriate training would be 
identified for the foster carer in line with the needs of the young person. 
The Foster Carers Handbooks contain an Anti Bullying Policy and guidance relating to 
Children Living away from Home.  The Anti Bullying Policy and Guidance for Foster Carers 
has been developed to identify those who are likely to instigate bullying i.e. foster carers, 
Social Workers and siblings and describe the role of the Family Placement Social Worker in 
helping foster carers cope with bullying. 
The Foster Carers Handbooks contain guidance entitled Absconding.

Percentage of foster children placed who report never or hardly ever 
being bullied: 

X %

Standard 10 (10.1 - 10.9) 
The fostering service makes sure that each child or young person in foster care is 
encouraged to maintain and develop family contacts and friendships as set out in 
her/his care plan and/or foster placement agreement. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

Policies, procedures and staff guidance on contact are available to foster carers and Family 
Placement Social Workers in the Children’s Services Handbook and Foster Carers 
Handbooks. 
The Foster Placement Agreement used by Herefordshire Local Authority is the LAC 
documents as described in the appropriate section of this report.  The Inspectors sampled 
these documents and the additional LAC documents completed after placement and found 
details regarding contact arrangements with friends, family members and social workers. 
Once a child is placed with a foster carer contact is reviewed on a regular basis and through 
LAC review meetings. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 23 

The process of matching since the last inspection was clearly recorded and demonstrated 
that the fostering service considers the need for, and benefits of, appropriate contact for a 
child when finding/suggesting a suitable foster carer and the views of the child are sought 
and taken into account in determining contact arrangements.  
Foster carers maintain individual records for each child, Family Placement Social Workers 
support foster carers to set up individual daily reports for all children placed.   
In interviews foster carers felt that some Children’s Social Workers were more proactive that 
others in seeking the views and observations of foster carers of a child’s reactions and views 
regarding contact arrangements.   
There is written guidance to Children’s Social Workers to consult and sign foster carers 
records during statutory visits to the child and to note the child’s reactions to contact.  This is 
being monitored and audited by the Independent Planning and Review Manager at Planning 
and Review Meetings. 
All foster carers receive training regarding promoting contact. 
Children’s contact visits are supported by foster carers, the child’s Social Worker or Family 
Placement Social Worker.  In interviews foster carers described how they were supported by 
the fostering service in dealing with any difficult contact issues. 
Foster carers were able to claim financial support to provide for transport and other costs 
involved in ensuring contact arrangements take place. 

Standard 11 (11.1 - 11.5) 
The fostering service ensures that children's opinions, and those of their families and 
others significant to the child, are sought over all issues that are likely to affect their 
daily life and their future. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

Herefordshire Council has a Corporate Complaints Procedure.
All foster carers and children are given a copy of a standard Herefordshire Council leaflet 
entitled Comments, Compliments and Complaints Procedure. 
Specific guidance entitled ‘Complaints made by Foster Carers’ and ‘Complaints and 
Compliments about Foster Carers’ is available to all foster carers in the Foster Carers 
Handbooks. 
The Children’s Service Handbook contained a section on Complaints. 
Foster carers are able to feedback to Herefordshire Council using a formal Complaint 
Procedure or as part of the annual Foster Carer Review.  It is the role of the Chair of the 
Fostering or Adoption and Permanency Panel to investigate concerns raised during 
Reviews.
An Inspector observed a Panel Meeting where foster carers were encouraged to give 
feedback with regard to the support and training they receive. 
In questionnaires the majority of children stated that they were aware of the procedures to 
follow to make a complaint.  In interviews children confirmed that Social Workers and foster 
carers made them aware of complaints procedures through discussions. 
All children and young people are given a copy of Herefordshire’s Complaints Procedure 
leaflet for Children and Young People entitled ‘How are we doing?’  This is given to all 
children at the point of placement and is available in a range of formats. 
All children receive a copy of the Children’s Guide, which informs children how they can 
complain and whom they can talk to if they are upset. 
In interviews Family Placement Social Workers stated that children were consulted about 
foster placements prior to reviews, during social worker visits and in daily conversations with 
foster carers.   



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 24 

Herefordshire Council continue to review and develop ways of consulting with children and 
young people placed with foster carers. 
All children are invited to contribute to Voices and received a copy of the ‘Voices Newsletter’.
All looked after children in Herefordshire have access to a Children’s Rights and Advocacy 
Service, which supports young people in expressing their views.  Foster carers are made 
aware of this service through the Foster Carers Handbooks.

Standard 12 (12.1 - 12.8) 
The fostering service ensures that it provides foster care services which help each 
child or young person in foster care to receive health care which meets her/his needs 
for physical, emotional and social development, together with information and 
training appropriate to her/his age and understanding to enable informed participation 
in decisions about her/his health needs. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

All foster carers receive training on health and First Aid. 
Policies, procedures and staff guidance is available to all foster carers on health related 
issues in the Foster Carers Handbooks. 
Since the last inspection all foster carers had been sent a copy of Healthy Care, a DfES 
booklet.
LAC documentations, children’s health records, LAC Review minutes, Planning Meeting 
minutes, initial and annual health assessment and permanency and adoption medicals detail 
health information relating to each individual child placed. 
Foster carers were able to describe to the Inspectors’ a range of specialist services available 
to young people and how they would support them to access those services.
Since the last inspection a Health Visitor for Looked After Children has been recruited to 
post.  Foster carers were aware of her role through meeting her at a Foster Carer Forum and 
informed the Inspectors that she had helped them access services for the children placed 
with them. 
All children placed with foster carers are registered with a GP and where possible children 
remained registered with their own GP. 
Herefordshire Social Services fund a half-time Clinical Psychology post, linked with an 
equivalent half-time Health funded post.  Referrals can be made for direct work with children 
or foster carers and Family Placement Social Workers can ask for consultations. 
In discussions and interviews foster carers were positive with regard to the support received 
by the Play Therapist and Clinical Psychologist. 

Standard 13 (13.1 - 13.8) 
The fostering service gives a high priority to meeting the educational needs of each 
child or young person in foster care and ensures that she/he is encouraged to attain 
her/his full potential. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 2

Herefordshire Council provide a range of additional support to promote educational 
achievement, these include a clinical child psychologist and an Educational Liaison Support 
Service (ELSS). 
The ELSS provides a link between schools and foster placements.   
All foster carers receive training on promoting educational opportunities and achievements. 
In interviews foster carers were able to describe positive relationships with local schools. 
Foster carers were able to describe how they supported young people to attend school and 
complete homework.
In interviews the young people confirmed that they had access to computers and study 
materials and that foster carers attended school events and parents evenings. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 25 

The foster service ensures all financial costs are met with regard to education. 
Written guidance relating to education is available in the Foster Carer Handbooks. 
Although not all children were in full time education the ELSS continue to work closely with 
the child, carer and social worker in liaison with schools and the Education Department to 
provide alternative or specialist education.
In line with Regulation 34(3) and Standard 13.4 the Foster Placement Agreement needs to 
state the foster carer’s role in school contact in conjunction with the parent and where 
financial responsibility lies for all school costs, including school uniform, school trips and 
school equipment (see Standard 8). 
It was the responsibility of the Child’s Social Worker to liaise with the foster carer, parents 
and school to draw up a Personal Education Plan. 
Access to library facilities and ‘story sacks’ are made available through Family Placement 
Social Worker. 
During discussions and in questionnaire a number of foster carers commented on the 
decreasing availability of computers for children.  This was discussed with the Fostering 
Team Manager and Family Support Social Workers who were aware of the issues and had 
put in place procedures to assess need due to the decreasing numbers of computers 
available.

Standard 14 (14.1 - 14.5) 
The fostering service ensures that their foster care services help to develop skills, 
competence and knowledge necessary for adult living. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

All foster carers receive training on moving on – exploring why placements end and 
preparing young people for independence. 
Family Placement Social Workers and foster carers were able to describe how they worked 
to promote each individual’s independence skills in relation to their Pathway Plan.  
Herefordshire Aftercare Team engage with young people to prepare them for adulthood and 
there are also links with the local Connexions services.
Both young people and foster carers identified during the last inspection that they would 
benefit from more information regarding the options for young people due to leave care and 
the role for foster carers post 18.  The Fostering Team Manager has discussed with the 
Aftercare Team their involvement in running training for foster carers. At the time of this 
inspection the team were experiencing sickness and the commitment of offering training was 
not possible.  An Aftercare worker had attended the Foster Carers Forum to give a 
presentation.
Written guidance is provided to foster carers in the Foster Carers’ Handbooks. 
Foster carers gave positive feedback with regard to two of the Family Placement Social 
Workers who maintained specialist links to teenage placements.  Foster carers commented 
on the availability and support provided to them by the whole of the Children’s Resource 
Team but in particular these two workers in relation to teenage placements. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 26 

Recruiting, Checking, Managing, Supporting and Training

Staff and Foster Carers 

The intended outcome for the following set of standards is: 

The people who work in or for the fostering service are suitable to work with 
children and young people and they are managed, trained and supported in such a 
way as to ensure the best possible outcomes for children in foster care.  The 
number of staff and carers and their range of qualifications and experience are 
sufficient to achieve the purposes and functions of the organisation. 

Standard 15 (15.1 - 15.8) 
Any people working in or for the fostering service are suitable people to work with 
children and young people and to safeguard and promote their welfare. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

Herefordshire Council has a written recruitment and selection procedure for appointing staff. 
The Inspectors inspected five staff personal files in line with Regulation 20, Schedule 1 and 
Standard 15.
The Staff Recruitment Procedure should be developed to state

 where written evidence of explanations of any gaps in employment and telephone 
references are kept on file.

 the procedure for recruiting agency staff in line with Regulation 20 Schedule 1 and 
where checks are recorded on file as evidence.   

The Children’s Resource Team incorporates both the Adoption and Fostering Service.
Within the Children’s Resource Team there are two full time Team Managers, one Fostering 
Team Manager and one Adoption Team Manager.  The Statement of Purpose states that the 
fostering team is made up of 7.5 Family Placement Social Workers who carry a caseload of 
both fostering and adoption work depending on expertise and the requirements of the 
service.
In addition to these posts there is one fulltime “Home finder” Family Placement Social 
Worker, one full time “Shared Care” Social Worker, a half time Child Psychologist, a half 
time Play Therapist, one full time Panel and Team Administrator and 2.75 full time 
Administration staff. 
The fostering team consists of a well-qualified and experienced range of social work staff. 
At the time of the last inspection there were two social worker team vacancies and one 
administration post vacancy.  The two Family Placement Social Worker vacancies were long 
standing vacancies.  At the time of this inspection there was 1.5 Family Placement Social 
Worker vacancies and one fulltime “Home finder” Family Placement Social Worker vacancy.
In interviews staff and the Fostering Team Manager described how workload was regularly 
reviewed and distributed to existing team members.  The team should be commended for 
the management of this work, however, Herefordshire Council must ensure that staff 
vacancies are quickly recruited to.  This team has continued to work under their allocated 
staffing levels.  They have had two experienced staff members leave in the last year and 
have recruited two new workers, one of whom is newly qualified and is being appropriately 
supported to slowly build up her caseload. This good practice has inevitably impacted on 
the case/work loads carried by existing team members and the continuing staff vacancies 
means that increased work tasks such as duty impacts on contact time that can be offered to 
foster carers.  
The Inspectors were informed during the last inspection and this inspection that proactive 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 27 

recruitment for professional staff is currently being undertaken by Herefordshire Council 
using the council website, careers conventions and specialist recruitment fairs. 
The figure in the box totalling the ‘number of staff of the agency’ indicates the proportion of 
worker time dedicated to the Fostering Service.
The figures in the boxes below do not represent members of the administrative team. 

Total number of staff of the 
agency:

6
Number of staff who have left the 
agency in the past 12 months: 

2

Standard 16 (16.1 - 16.16) 
Staff are organised and managed in a way that delivers an efficient and effective 
foster care service. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 2

In interviews and questionnaires staff and managers described a clear management 
structure and lines of accountability. 
There were systems and procedures in place to ensure assessments, approvals and reviews 
of carers are managed effectively and by people who have appropriate skills. 
In interviews and questionnaires Family Placement Social Workers and Managers were able 
to describe a range of systems in place to determine, prioritise and monitor workloads. 
The Children’s Resource Team consisted of well-qualified and highly experienced social 
work staff who demonstrated professional knowledge and experience of fostering services 
as well as specific interests.  This enabled the Fostering Team Manager to assign tasks to 
appropriate staff. 
There were systems in place to check CSCI registration and inspection reports of other 
fostering agencies and ensure that there are no concerns about the agencies’ assessment, 
approval and review processes.  These records were inspected and found to contain a chart 
of information requested including registration certificate, inspection report and Statement of 
Purpose.  The chart records whether information has been requested, if that information is 
available and if it has been received. 
The Inspectors sampled three foster agency files.  These demonstrated that Herefordshire 
Council has systems in place to monitor that procedures are followed in line with Regulation 
40 (4) and 40 (5) to ensure that no arrangements are made without written agreement in 
respect of each placement and child.  These records also identified where information, such 
as Individual Placement Agreements were not in place.  Herefordshire Council should 
ensure that Regulation 40.5 (d) and (f) are met in respect of agreements with independent 
agencies.
Professional supervision was provided to all Family Placement Social Workers. 
Herefordshire Council provides a range of corporate training available to foster carers and 
Family Placement Social Workers.  In addition to this training the Children’s Resource Team 
run a range of targeted specialist training for foster carers. 
A training officer has been appointed specifically for Children’s Services to provide further 
targeted training for Child Care and Fostering Services workers and to facilitate the delivery 
of additional training to foster carers.
Personnel in the Children’s Resource Team maintain a record of training attended by foster 
carers.  Foster carers maintain a portfolio that includes a running record and evidence of 
training.
A team of administration staff and a corporate personnel system supports the Children’s 
Resource Team. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 28 

In interviews with foster carers and young people the Inspectors were informed of a range of 
people available to give advice and effective systems requesting support.  In interviews and 
questionnaires foster carers demonstrated that they had a clear understanding of the roles of 
Family Placement Social Workers. 
Staff have written contracts, job descriptions and conditions of service. 
All foster carers are provided with copies of the Foster Carers’ Handbooks. 

Standard 17 (17.1 - 17.7) 
The fostering service has an adequate number of sufficiently experienced and 
qualified staff and recruits a range of carers to meet the needs of children and young 
people for whom it aims to provide a service. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The experience and qualifications of staff are adequate to the size of the service and are in 
line with the Statement of Purpose.  Where a short fall in staffing levels occur a contingency 
plan exists.  Work is shared among the members of the team and an agency member of staff 
had been employed for a short period of time.  Herefordshire Council should be mindful of 
the principles expressed in Standard 15 and must ensure that posts are recruited to within a 
reasonable timescale to maintain a sufficient number of suitably qualified, competent and 
experienced staff working for the purposes of the fostering service.   
Herefordshire Council promotes the retention of salaried staff through corporate training and 
supervision.  At the time of this inspection Herefordshire Council had reviewed all employees 
terms and conditions. 
Herefordshire Council has a recruitment policy and strategy that aims to recruit a range of 
carers to meet the needs of children and young people for whom it aims to provide a service.
There is a clearly set out process for foster carers, which includes training and assessment.  
Herefordshire Council uses the BAAF Form F, which covers matters set out in Standard 
17.7.  These forms were sampled through a system of case tracking.  The Fostering Service 
Manager and Panel Chair described a process of evaluating and monitoring assessments in 
line with Regulation 27, Schedule 3 and Standard 17.7.  The forth-coming assessment 
training for all panel members will assist in their evaluation and monitoring role.

Standard 18 (18.1 - 18.7) 
The fostering service is a fair and competent employer, with sound employment 
practices and good support for its staff and carers. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

Foster carers described out of hours support received from Hereford and Worcester 
Emergency Duty Team (EDT).  In addition to this service Herefordshire Council have 
entered into an agreement with the National Children’s Homes to provide planned out of 
hours support packages to foster carers and children who have been assessed to have 
specific needs.
A duty system is in place for foster carers during office hours this is provided by the 
Children’s Resource Team.  A newsletter has reminded all foster carers about the Children’s 
Resource Team duty system and its relationship to the Emergency Duty Service.
Foster carers informed Inspectors of the system of formal supervision of foster carers.
Records of these sessions are maintained by Family Placement Social Workers and used to 
informed annual reviews and training needs of foster carers. 
Sessions are recorded on a checklist, which the Fostering Team Manager monitors during 
supervision sessions with each Family Placement Social Worker and at the foster carers 
annual reviews.



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 29 

A management system of annual appraisals for foster carers is incorporated into supervision 
and annual reviews. 
There is comprehensive health and safety policies, procedures and staff guidance for carers 
contained in the Foster Carers’ Handbooks and a Whistle blowing Policy. 

Standard 19 (19.1 - 19.7) 
There is a good quality training programme to enhance individual skills and to keep 
staff up-to-date with professional and legal developments. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The Fostering Team Manager maintains a list of all staff training and development on the 
computer system.  This is specific to training offered, training attended and individual’s 
development.  These records were inspected and showed that over the last year most 
Family Placement Social Workers had attended one training event.
There is a corporate training programme available to all Family Placement Social Workers 
this was not specific to fostering.  This programme was also available to foster carers.  This 
enabled foster carers and Family Placement Social Workers to attend joint training events 
covering specific issues such as child protection. 
A training officer has been appointed specifically for Children’s Services to provide further 
training for Child Care and Fostering Services Social Workers.  The Inspectors were told that 
he had consulted with the team and will be developing appropriate training. 
Family Placement Social Workers informed inspectors that all new staff participate in 
induction training on commencement of their employment.  This induction allows staff to 
move between departments and observe different teams roles. 
Family Placement Social Workers are informed of changes in legislation or guidance 
relevant to their jobs through team meetings, corporate training or specific training sessions 
organised by the Fostering Team Manager. 
All Family Placement Social Workers receive annual appraisals and reviews, which identify 
training needs. 

Standard 20 (20.1 - 20.5) 
All staff are properly accountable and supported. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

Family Placement Social Workers have copies of policies, procedures and staff guidance in 
the Children’s Services Handbook, Inter-Agency Guidelines and Protocols and Foster Carers 
Handbooks.  These contain clear written details of the duties and responsibilities expected of 
them together with the policies and procedures of the organisation. 
Inspectors saw evidence that Family Placement Social Workers receive regular support and 
supervision.  A record is kept of the date, duration and content of the supervision.
Herefordshire Council have a Staff Review and Development Policy.   
Inspectors saw evidence of regular team meetings.  Minutes are taken of these meetings 
and made available to staff who are unable to attend. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 30 

Standard 21 (21.1 - 21.6) 
The fostering service has a clear strategy for working with and supporting carers. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The Family Resource Team has a clear strategy for working with foster carers that is 
documented and includes all matters set out in 21.2. 
In questionnaires, interviews and group discussions Family Placement Social Workers and 
foster carers were able to describe how foster carers and children would be supported in a 
range of situations and with the help and support of a network of professionals. 
It was clear that foster carers understood the role of Family Placement Social Workers and 
Children’s Social Workers. 
Inspectors observed a fostering panel and saw evidence of annual review reports being 
presented to and made available to the panel.  In interviews foster carers were able to 
describe the procedure for their annual review and the role of panel.   
In questionnaires Children’s Social Workers described good communication between foster 
carers and Family Placement Social Workers.  In interviews and group discussions foster 
carers described how communication was maintained with Children’s Social Workers either 
through telephone calls, home visits or via the Family Placement Social Worker. 
Foster carers were able to describe clear and consistent approaches for resolving concerns.  
Foster carers stated that Family Placement Social Workers were supportive and proactive in 
resolving concerns and providing support. 
Systems for electronic communications between Family Placement Social Workers and 
Children’s Social Workers should be reviewed to ensure there is evidence of contact on 
foster carers and children’s files.    

Standard 22 (22.1 - 22.10) 
The fostering service is a managed one that provides supervision for foster carers 
and helps them to develop their skills. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

Foster carers sign a Foster Care Agreement and are given a copy of the Foster Carers 
Handbooks, which include policies, procedures and staff guidance.
Each foster carer is supervised by a named, appropriately qualified social worker and has 
access to adequate social work and other professional support, information and advice. 
The foster carers informed the Inspectors that they were given the Handbooks prior to 
approval, these contained policies, procedures, guidance, legal information and insurance 
details.  The Inspectors were informed that these are regularly reviewed and updated. 
Formal supervisory meetings between foster carers and Family Placement Social Workers 
take place three times in a year.  The Inspectors saw evidence of these meetings recorded 
in the foster carers files.   
Unannounced visits take place at least annually and are clearly recorded on the foster carers 
file and monitored at Reviews. 
Foster carers described the system of support available to them by Herefordshire Council 
out of hours Emergency Duty Team.
In interviews and questionnaires foster carers described insurance cover and access to 
Family Placement Social Work support.
Foster carers were provided with information regarding the complaints procedures and the 
procedures dealing with investigations into allegations.   
The Fostering Team Manager described systems for recording and monitoring allegations of 
abuse and complaints in line with Regulation 42.1 (b) Schedule 7. 
A clear policy exists which outlines the circumstances in which a carer should be removed 
from the foster carer register. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 31 

Standard 23 (23.1 - 23.9) 
The fostering service ensures that foster carers are trained in the skills required to 
provide high quality care and meet the needs of each child/young person placed in 
their care. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

There is an on-going programme of training for foster carers, which includes pre-approval 
training, induction training and post approval training. 
Training available to foster carer’s covers child protection, court skills, children’s rights and 
advocacy, dangerous relationships, drug awareness, first aid, men in foster care, preparation 
for independence, preparation for permanence, sex education and relationships, sons and 
daughters of foster carers, valuing diversity and working with the department. 
Foster carers are able to undertake NVQ level 3 in caring for children. 
All training fits within a framework of equal opportunities and anti-discriminatory practice. 
Foster carers attend Herefordshire Council corporate training and ACPC joint training.
The Fostering Team Manager and Family Placement Social Workers have been consulting 
foster carers to identify appropriate times and forums for ensuring attendance of the 
maximum number of foster carers to post approval training events.   
A number of foster carers in questionnaires and discussions identified difficulties in attending 
training events and foster carers forums run during work time on weekdays.  This matter 
should be reviewed by the Fostering Team Manager. 
The Fostering Team Manager informed the Inspectors that it is the responsibility of the 
Family Placement Social Workers to ensure foster carers are aware of training sessions and 
identify specific training needs.  This forms part of the formal supervision system.  
A foster training data base records all training delivered to foster carers and attendance. 
Foster carers informed the Inspectors that where appropriate their children have also 
attended training sessions.  This is good practice. 
Inspectors observed a foster panel and sampled annual review reports.  Where the review 
identifies a training need the appropriate action from that recommendation should cross 
reference to supervision and training records. Where a training need is identified in formal 
supervision in is stated in the panel review report. 
The Fostering Team Manager undertakes an annual review of all training provided to foster 
carers by the Children’s Resource Team. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 32 

Records

The intended outcome for the following set of standards is: 

All appropriate records are kept and are accessible in relation to the fostering 
services and the individual foster carers and foster children.

Standard 24 (24.1 - 24.8) 
The fostering service ensures that an up-to-date, comprehensive case record is 
maintained for each child or young person in foster care which details the nature and 
quality of care provided and contributes to an understanding of her/his life events.
Relevant information from the case records is made available to the child and to 
anyone involved in her/his care. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

There was a range of policies, procedures and staff guidance regarding maintaining case 
records.
A main children’s record is maintained by Children’s Social Workers these relate to each 
young person placed with foster carers. 
The Family Placement Social Workers maintain a file that details relevant information, visits 
and contact specific to each foster carer.  In addition to these the Family Placement Social 
Workers maintained files containing basic information relating to children referred and 
placed.  These files are stored alongside the foster carers files. 
In interviews Family Placement Social Workers described internal procedures for sharing 
information and discussing decisions. 
Guidance is set out in the Children’s Services Handbook with regard to children’s files and 
foster carers files maintained by Children’s Social Workers and Family Placement Social 
Workers.  This guidance has been developed to include how these records relating to both 
children and foster carers are shared between social work teams.       
In interviews with Family Placement Social Workers and foster carers the Inspectors were 
told that relevant information relating to a young person would be copied and shared with 
foster carers.   
There is a policy in the Foster Carers’ Handbooks that gives clear guidance that all records 
must be stored in a secure manner by foster carers. 
Foster carers described to the Inspectors how they were supported and provided with the 
necessary information and equipment to help a young person understand and record past 
significant events.  The Inspectors heard how foster carers encouraged young people to 
reflect and understand their history and to keep appropriate memorabilia. 
The Fostering Team Manager informed Inspectors that data stored about foster carers and 
the services they access is constantly reviewed and updated to give the service a clear 
picture of the resources available and help analyse service needs. 
Since the last inspection Herefordshire Council has reviewed its policies to comply with the 
Data Protection Act and training has been available to Fostering Services staff with further 
training planned for February and March 2005.  Information about compliance when keeping 
records about children is available to all foster carers in the Foster Carers Handbooks and is 
contained in Appendix 16.  The individual’s right to have access to their records has been 
reinforced via supervision and at the Foster Carer Forum. 
The Fostering Team Manager informed the Inspectors that a project managed by specialist 
staff has been commissioned to improve and update the CLIX system to meet the 
requirements of the fostering service.



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 33 

Standard 25 (25.1 - 25.13) 
The fostering service's administrative records contain all significant information 
relevant to the running of the foster care service and as required by regulations. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

Policies, procedures and staff guidance on the retention and security of records were in the 
Foster Carers’ Handbooks and Children’s Services Handbook.
Herefordshire Council maintained separate records for staff, foster carers and children.  The 
Inspectors saw evidence of permanent, secure, and private records for each young person 
and foster carer referred to or appointed by Herefordshire Council. 
Family Placement Social Workers are continuing to working with foster carers to develop 
their record keeping skills.   
Inspectors sampled young people’s files and foster carer files.  Records where on the whole 
legible and non-stigmatising.  Records of complaints and allegations were clearly recorded 
on the relevant files. 
A system existed for keeping records about allegations and complaints and for handling 
these confidentially and securely. 
Herefordshire Council maintain a computerised database detailing complaints and 
allegations made by children in their care.  This is monitored and updated on an ongoing 
basis by the Fostering Team Manager.
A separate database is maintained by the Fostering Team Manager, and updated with 
regard to Notifiable Events, which includes Schedule 2 records detailing all accidents 
occurring to children whilst placed with foster carers.  This information is gathered by the 
Fostering Team Manager through information passed onto her by Children’s Social Workers 
and Family Placement Social Workers.  
The Fostering Service’s administration records include computerised data on CRB checks 
for all members of foster carer households over 16 years, leisure passes for foster families to 
allow them free access to the County’s Leisure Centres, monitoring of Duty Calls and Duty 
Roster and Staff sickness. 
There is a system to monitor the quality and adequacy of records, through supervision 
sessions and action is taken when required. 
Figures below run from January 2004 to December 2004. 

Number of current foster placements supported by the agency: 125

Number of placements made by the agency in the last 12 months: 98

Number of placements made by the agency which ended in the past 12 
months:

109

Number of new foster carers approved during the last 12 months: 16

Number of foster carers who left the agency during the last 12 months: 20

Current weekly payments to foster parents: Minimum £ 
69.72

Maximum £ 
269.03



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 34 

Fitness of Premises for use as Fostering Service 

The intended outcome for the following standard is: 

The premises used as offices by the fostering service are suitable for the purpose. 

Standard 26 (26.1 - 26.5) 
Premises used as offices by the fostering service are appropriate for the purpose. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The Children’s Resource Team has dedicated office accommodation on the first and second 
floor of Moor House.  There are identifiable, well-equipped office premises to which staff and 
others have access during normal office hours.  The Children’s Resource Team has a 
degree of access to rooms to provide training and meetings, unfortunately due to the age of 
the building not all these rooms allow for wheel chair access.  Alternative venues are used 
for training events and support groups. 
Facilities exist for the secure retention of records and IT systems.  Herefordshire Council has 
procedures for the security of the building.
All staff have access to their own personal computer linked to a central secure server 
managed by Herefordshire Council. 
The premises and its contents are adequately insured. 
At the time of this inspection Herefordshire Council were undertaking a review of office 
accommodation, which may change the location of the Children’s Resource Team. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 35 

Financial Requirements 

The intended outcome for the following set of standards is: 

The agency fostering services are financially viable and appropriate and timely 
payments are made to foster carers. 

Standard 27 (27.1 - 27.3) 
The agency ensures it is financially viable at all times and has sufficient financial 
resources to fulfil its obligations. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The agency is financially viable and has sufficient financial resources to fulfil its obligations. 
Procedures exist to deal with situations of financial crisis and regulations and guidelines 
imposed upon businesses are conformed with. 

Standard 28 (28.1 - 28.7) 
The financial processes/systems of the agency are properly operated and maintained 
in accordance with sound and appropriate accounting standards and practice. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The Children’s Resource Team has the benefit of the full resources of Herefordshire 
Council’s Finance and Audit Sections, which operate within prescribed financial boundaries 
and which are subject to evaluation by the Commission through a separate inspection 
process.

Standard 29 (29.1 - 29.2) 
Each foster carer receives an allowance and agreed expenses, which cover the full 
cost of caring for each child or young person placed with him or her.  Payments are 
made promptly and at the agreed time.  Allowances and fees are reviewed annually. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The Foster Carers’ Handbooks and Children’s Services Handbooks contain a range of 
policies, procedures and staff guidance relating to fostering allowances. 
In interviews and discussions foster carers were able to describe how they would access 
information relating to allowances and expenses either through support groups, their Family 
Placement Social Workers, training and information sharing days or written information. 
In questionnaires and interviews foster carers stated that the process for payment of 
expenses had improved.  They also confirmed that they had received more information and 
guidance with regard to tax related issues since the last inspection. 
Family Placement Social Workers and foster carers described how a young person would be 
supported financially to access specific activities, hobbies or holidays through discussions 
and in agreements during reviews. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 36 

Fostering Panels 

The intended outcome for the following set of standards is: 

Fostering panels are organised efficiently and effectively so as to ensure that 
good quality decisions are made about the approval of foster carers, in line with 
the overriding objective to promote and safeguard the welfare of children in foster 
care.

Standard 30 (30.1 - 30.9) 
Fostering panels have clear written policies and procedures, which are implemented 
in practice, about the handling of their functions. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

There were policies and procedures relating to the role of the Foster Panel in the Foster 
Carers’ Handbooks and Children’s Services Handbook. 
Herefordshire Fostering Panel meets once a month.
In interviews with Family Placement Social Workers, foster carers and Managers the 
Inspectors explored the role of Panel.  The Panel’s task is to approve fostering applications 
from individuals and couples who wish to offer short-term, respite or teenage placements.  It 
also approves friends and relatives (kinship carers) applying to foster a child who is already 
known to them.  The panel is also responsible for overseeing the review of all approved 
foster carers, for considering complaints, applications for deregistration of carers and for 
granting exemptions to the usual fostering limit that has been placed on each approved 
foster carer. 
A written procedure describes how the Panel provide a quality assurance function in relation 
to the assessment process and in line with Standard 30.5.   
Since the last inspection the membership of the Fostering Panel has been reviewed in order 
to provide more contributions from people independent of Herefordshire Fostering Service in 
line with the Fostering Services Regulations 2002.
The Chair described clear procedures for a Vice Chair to act up in his absence.   
Herefordshire Council had undertaken satisfactory CRB checks for all foster panel members.
The Fostering Team Manager described procedures for vetting checks of panel members’ 
inline with Schedule 1.  This procedure should be put in writing to clearly describe the 
process and where evidence of checks are filed.
Inspectors observed the functioning of the fostering panel and saw evidence of foster carers 
reviews being considered by panel.  The Resource Manager informed Inspectors that panel 
considers all first foster carer reviews and thereafter every two years.
Reports were prepared and presented to Panel. The Inspectors heard that these reports 
were sent out to all Panel Members in a timely fashion prior to Panel Meetings.
Consideration should be given to confidential documents being sent out to panel embers in 
tamper proof envelopes. 
The Inspectors saw evidence on foster carer’s files of written records of its proceedings and 
the reasons for its recommendations. 
The Inspectors were informed that children’s views were gained at LAC reviews by 
Children’s Social Workers.  Since the last inspection systems have been reviewed to ensure 
feedback from foster children are presented to Panel when considering the reviews of foster 
carers.



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 37 

Short-Term Breaks 

The intended outcome for the following set of standards is: 

When foster care is provided as a short-term break for a child, the arrangement 
recognises that the parents remain the main carers for the child. 

Standard 31 (31.1 - 31.2) 
Where a fostering service provides short-term breaks for children in foster care, they 
have policies and procedures, implemented in practice, to meet the particular needs 
of children receiving short-term breaks. 

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 2

Herefordshire Council provides short-term breaks to a small number of children with a 
disability.  Since the last inspection a Social Worker has been recruited full time to the post 
of Short-term Breaks Social Worker.  The post is based in the Children with Disabilities 
Team and should be line managed by the Children with Disabilities Team Manager.  At the 
time of this inspection this post was vacant and other arrangements where in place. 
Herefordshire Council should ensure that in line with Regulation 6 there is one manager of 
the fostering service and bring their short-break services under the fostering services 
manage, or nominate a more senior manager who has a level of strategic responsibility. 
Herefordshire Council should apply the Fostering Services Standards and Fostering 
Services Regulations 2002 to this service.  As part of this process Herefordshire Council 
may identify aspects, which the scheme may have difficulty in meeting.  The Commission 
recognises a need to apply the Regulations and Standards in a proportionate way and will 
seek to do so wherever appropriate.  Herefordshire Council should work with the Short-term 
Breaks Social Worker and Shared Carers to develop policies and procedures appropriate to 
them and the children placed. 
All shared-care foster carers are given a profile of a child prior to placement.  Consideration 
should be given to developing this document in line with Regulation 34(3) Schedule 6. 
All shared-care foster carers are required to sign the standard foster care agreement.
In interview and questionnaires shared-care foster carers described positive support from 
the newly appointed social worker.  Positive comments were also made about the collation 
of a specialised library.
The Inspectors noted the positive involvement of the Social Worker and a shared-care foster 
care in running training for other foster carers.  Herefordshire Council should ensure that 
specialised training is also available for shared-care foster carers. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 38 

Family and Friends as Carers 

The intended outcome for the following set of standards is: 

Local authority fostering services' policies and procedures for assessing, 
approving, supporting and training foster carers recognise the particular 
contribution that can be made by and the particular needs of family and friends as 
carers.

Standard 32 (32.1 - 32.4) 
These standards are all relevant to carers who are family and friends of the child, but 
there is recognition of the particular relationship and position of family and friend 
carers.

Key Findings and Evidence Standard met? 3

The Local Authority provided a fostering service and support network for kinship carers.
During the previous inspection the Inspectors considered the assessment, approval and 
supervision of family and friends as foster carers to be sensitive to their needs and their 
existing relationship. 
The Local Authority provides financial support to enable young people to remain cared for by 
their natural family this includes adaptations to the home and specialised equipment.



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 39 

PART C LAY ASSESSOR’S SUMMARY 

(where applicable)

Lay Assessor Signature

Date



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 40 

PART D PROVIDER’S RESPONSE 

D.1 Registered Person’s or Responsible Local Authority Manager’s 
comments/confirmation relating to the content and accuracy of the report for 
the above inspection. 

We would welcome comments on the content of this report relating to the Inspection 
conducted on 10th, 21st, 22nd, 23rd, 24th, 25th and 28th February 2005 and any factual 
inaccuracies:

Please limit your comments to one side of A4 if possible 

We are working on the best way to include provider responses in the published report.  In 
the meantime responses received are available on request from the local Hereford office. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 41 

Action taken by the CSCI in response to the provider’s comments: 

Amendments to the report were necessary YES

Comments were received from the provider YES

Provider comments/factual amendments were incorporated into the final 
inspection report 

YES

YES
Provider comments are available on file at the Area Office but have not 
been incorporated into the final inspection report.  The inspector believes 
the report to be factually accurate 

Note:
In instances where there is a major difference of view between the Inspector and the 
Registered Provider responsible Local Authority fostering service Manager both views will 
be made available on request to the Area Office. 

D.2 Please provide the Commission with a written Action Plan by 15th April 2005, 
which indicates how statutory requirements and recommendations are to be 
addressed and stating a clear timescale for completion.  This will be kept on 
file and made available on request. 

Status of the Provider’s Action Plan at time of publication of the final inspection 
report:

Action plan was required YES

Action plan was received at the point of publication YES

Action plan covers all the statutory requirements in a timely fashion YES

Action plan did not cover all the statutory requirements and required further 
discussion

Provider has declined to provide an action plan 

Other:

Public reports 
It should be noted that all CSCI inspection reports are public documents.  Reports on 
children’s homes are only obtainable on personal application to CSCI offices. 



Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service Page 42 

D.3 PROVIDER’S AGREEMENT 

Registered Person’s or responsible Local Authority Manager’s statement of 
agreement/comments:  Please complete the relevant section that applies. 

D.3.1 I Mr Henry Lewis of Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service confirm 
that the contents of this report are a fair and accurate representation of the 
facts relating to the inspection conducted on the above date(s) and that I 
agree with the statutory requirements made and will seek to comply with 
these.

Print Name 

Signature

Designation

Date

Or

D.3.2 I Mr Henry Lewis of Herefordshire Local Authority Fostering Service am 
unable to confirm that the contents of this report are a fair and accurate 
representation of the facts relating to the inspection conducted on the above 
date(s) for the following reasons: 

Print Name 

Signature

Designation

Date

Note:  In instance where there is a profound difference of view between the Inspector and 
the Registered Provider both views will be reported.  Please attach any extra pages, as 
applicable.



H
e

re
fo

rd
s

h
ire

 L
o

ca
l A

u
th

o
rity

 F
o

s
te

rin
g

 S
e

rvice
 / 1

0
th

,2
1

s
t, 2

2
n

d
,2

3
rd

, 2
4

th
, 2

5
th

2
8

th
 F

e
b

ru
a

ry
 2

0
0

5

Commission for Social Care Inspection

33 Greycoat Street 

London

SW1P 2QF 

Telephone: 020 7979 2000 

Fax: 020 7979 2111 

National Enquiry Line: 0845 015 0120 

www.csci.org.uk

S0000056304.V200389.R01 

© This report may only be used in its entirety. Extracts may not be used or reproduced without the 

express permission of the Commission for Social Care Inspection 

 The paper used in this document is supplied from a sustainable source 





CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 3RD OCTOBER, 2005 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Paul James, Committee Officer (Scrutiny) on (01432) 260460 

 
StatutoryandCooptedMembersreport0.doc 

 REVIEW OF STATUTORY AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS 
ON CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Report By: County Secretary & Solicitor 
 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To review the statutory and co-opted membership on the Children’s Services Scrutiny 
Committee. 

Background 

2. The Council amended its Constitution in May 2005, to reflect changing legislation 
following the implementation of the Children Act 2004.  As a result the Council 
formed the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee.  This new Committee primarily 
assumed the remit of the former Education Scrutiny Committee and those elements 
relating to childcare previously under the former Social Care & Housing Scrutiny 
Committee.  

3. Co-opted Members provide a valuable role in ensuring the Committee is properly 
advised and informed on specific issues.  The previous Education Scrutiny 
Committee was very well supported with its co-opted Members and this Committee 
would wish to recognise that contribution.  However, it is considered appropriate for 
the Committee to review the statutory and co-opted membership on the Committee.  
The former Education Scrutiny Committee last considered this issue on 14th July, 
2003 and its conclusions are reflected in the details below. 

Current Statutory Membership and Term 

4. Diocesan Members – it is required by statute that the Committee formally co-opt 
Diocesan representatives to serve on the Committee as voting members.  Where the 
remit of the Committee goes wider than matters related to education, as in the case 
of this Committee, church and parent governor representatives are entitled to vote 
only on any matter relating to education, whether in respect of schools or wider 
educational issues.  They may in addition speak on any other matters within the remit 
of the Committee.  The current members are: 

Church of England – The Reverend I. Terry – appointed November 2003 

Roman Catholic Church – Mr. J. D. Griffin – appointed February 2003 

5. There is no statutory term of office for the diocesan members.  It was agreed in July 
2003 that Diocesan Authorities would continue to notify the County Secretary and 
Solicitor as and when any changes occur to their representation.   

AGENDA ITEM 7

21



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 3RD OCTOBER, 2005 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Paul James, Committee Officer (Scrutiny) on (01432) 260460 

 
StatutoryandCooptedMembersreport0.doc 

6. It is recommended that this practice continue.  However, to be consistent it is 
suggested that the Diocesan Authorities be requested by the County Secretary and 
Solicitor to reconsider or reconfirm their nominations prior to Council elections. 

7. Parent Governor Members – The School Standards and Framework Act 1998 and 
the Education (Parent Governor Representatives) Regulations 1999 require 
education authorities to have parent governor representatives as full members on 
Scrutiny Committees with voting rights.  As in the case of Church representatives 
they are restricted to voting on educational matters only.  They may in addition speak 
on any other matters within the remit of the Committee. 

8. The Council decided that 3 Parent Governor representatives be appointed following 
self-nomination via the Hereford Association of Governors.  Receipt of multiple 
nominations results in a ballot of eligible governors.  Since May 2000 a number of 
elections have taken place and the current members are: 

Primary Schools – Ms. K. Fitch – appointed May 2004 

Secondary Schools – Mrs C. Woolley – appointed July 2005. 

Special School – Governor Services attempting to fill the vacancy. 

9. The Regulations with regard to Parent Governors set out that the term of office shall 
be “of such duration as the authority shall determine, being a period not less than two 
years nor greater than four years”.  Cabinet in Sept 1999, decided that 
“representatives take up their role from the start of the new Council in May 2000.  
The term of office should be coincident with that of the Council, with any vacancy 
filled on the basis of completing the remaining period of office”. 

10. In accordance with the Regulations and Cabinet’s decision, providing both current 
members continue to be eligible parent governors, their term of office will run until the 
May 2007 Council elections.  Provided they continue to be eligible they may stand for 
re-election for a further term. 

Consideration of the Wider Remit of the Committee 

11. In view of the Committee’s wider remit, as set out in Part 7 of the Council’s 
Constitution, an extract of which is set out in Appendix 1 to this report, it is relevant 
that the Committee consider whether to seek wider representation from the areas not 
currently represented, for example by inviting representation from the Foster Carers 
and Children Social Care Social Workers sectors.  Currently the Committee is 
comprised of 10 voting Councillors; 5 voting Co-opted members and 5 non-voting co-
opted members.  The Committee needs to consider whether the balance of existing 
non-voting co-opted representatives is appropriate in view of the need to consider 
appointing expertise from the fostering and children’s social care sectors.   

12. The three key options for consideration at this stage are: 

a) Do nothing – in view of the wider remit of the Committee this is not considered 
to be a reasonable option. 

b) Reduce the current non-statutory co-opted membership and include non-
voting co-opted representatives from the new sector(s) 

22



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 3RD OCTOBER, 2005 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Paul James, Committee Officer (Scrutiny) on (01432) 260460 

 
StatutoryandCooptedMembersreport0.doc 

c) Maintain the current non-statutory co-opted membership and appoint new 
non-voting co-opted representative(s) from new sector(s) 

13. Once the Committee has established what it intends in relation to the range of non-
statutory co-opted membership it may then need to consider a number of further 
issues which arise as a consequence. 

Current Non-voting Co-opted Membership and Term 

14. Teacher representatives. These were appointed following secret ballot by teachers 
in their respective sectors.  The current members representing the three teaching 
sectors are: 

Primary School Teachers – Mr J. D. Pritchard – elected March 2001 

Secondary School Teachers – Mr C. Lewandowski – elected April 1998 

Special School Teachers* – Mr. M. Carter – elected December 2004. 

15. *Following difficulty in appointing a Special School Teacher representative the 
Education Scrutiny Committee in July 2003, agreed to widen the eligibility for this 
appointment to include SENCOs (Special Educational Needs Co-ordinators), SEN 
teachers in primary and secondary schools and Headteachers of special schools. 

16. It was agreed in July 2003 that the term of office for non-voting co-opted teacher 
representatives continue until a request for a new election by teachers is received by 
the County Secretary and Solicitor. 

17. Subject to the Committee’s decision in relation to paragraph 12 on whether to reduce 
or maintain the current membership, it is suggested that the Committee consider 
revising this arrangement to bring it in line with the term of office Cabinet set for 
parent governor representatives.  If the current membership is maintained the term of 
office for current representatives would therefore run until the Council elections in 
May 2007.  Representatives would thereafter serve for 4 years in accordance with 
the Council’s electoral cycle.  Provided they continue to be eligible for the sector they 
represent any current representative may stand for re-election for a further term.  Any 
casual vacancy would be filled on the basis of completing the remaining period of 
office. 

18. Should the Committee decide to change the current membership the following will 
need to be addressed: 

a) How are the teaching sectors to be represented? 

b) When will any change take place? 

c) What term of office is to be introduced? (a suggested term is outlined in 
paragraph 17) 

19. Headteacher representatives –The Education Scrutiny Committee in July 2003 
agreed that the Associations of Headteachers nominate 1 secondary and 1 primary 
headteacher to serve as non-voting co-opted representatives on the Committee.  The 
current representatives are: 

Secondary School Headteachers – Mr. A. Marson – from November, 2003. 

23



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 3RD OCTOBER, 2005 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Paul James, Committee Officer (Scrutiny) on (01432) 260460 

 
StatutoryandCooptedMembersreport0.doc 

Primary School Headteachers – Miss S. Peate – from January 2004. 

20. It was agreed in July 2003 that the term of office should be at the relevant 
Association’s discretion. 

21. Again subject to the Committee’s decision in relation to paragraph 12, it is suggested 
that this practice continue.  However, in the interest of being consistent it is 
suggested that the Associations be requested by the County Secretary and Solicitor 
to reconsider or reconfirm their nominations prior to Council elections. 

22. Should the Committee decide to change the current membership the following will 
need to be addressed: 

a) How are the headteacher sectors to be represented? 

b) When will any change take place? 

c) What term of office is to be introduced? (a suggested term is outlined in 
paragraph 21) 

Representing the Wider Remit 

23. Appointment of new non-voting co-opted representative(s) from new sector(s).  
Should the Committee decide to appoint non-voting co-opted representatives to 
represent the wider remit of the Committee, for example by inviting representation 
from the Foster Carers and Children Social Care Social Workers sectors, then they 
will need to consider the following issues: 

a) What sectors are to be invited to be represented and how many representatives 
are to be invited from that sector(s)? 

b) It is suggested that, wherever possible, the Committee should ensure that the co-
opted member(s) is representative of a sector.  It is suggested that wherever 
possible the local association be requested to nominate a representative(s). If 
that is not possible then a ballot be held from those registered with the Council in 
that sector(s). 

c) What term of office will they serve for? – It is suggested that the term be the 
same as for the other non-voting co-opted representatives discussed earlier in 
this report namely in accordance with the Council electoral cycle.  In view of the 
likely time taken to seek nominations and run the election process, this would 
leave a limited term of office if the representative(s) were to serve until the May 
2007 elections.  The Committee could appoint for a 4 year term commencing 
from the election, however, to allow the successful representative(s) time to ‘learn 
the role’ and from an administrative point of view of running an election, it is 
suggested that, if this option is favoured, representatives should serve for the 
remainder of the current term and the following term of 4 years namely to the 
elections in May 2011.  Thereafter in accordance with the electoral cycle. 

d) Any casual vacancy should be filled on the basis of completing the remaining 
term of office.  Provided they continue to be eligible for the sector they represent 
any appointed representative may stand for re-election for a further term. 

 

24



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 3RD OCTOBER, 2005 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Paul James, Committee Officer (Scrutiny) on (01432) 260460 

 
StatutoryandCooptedMembersreport0.doc 

An Alternative To Co-Opting Representatives 

24. The Committee may wish to take into account that co-option is only one means of 
engaging partners and there may be times when other methods would be more 
appropriate, for example the Committee could, through the Chair and Vice-Chair, 
appoint a body of ‘expert advisors’ who could be called upon to give advice when 
issues within their specialty are under discussion. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT; 

(a) the Diocesan Authority membership as set out in paragraphs 4-6 
be reaffirmed subject to the County Secretary and Solicitor 
requesting that the Authorities reconsider or reconfirm their 
nomination prior to Council elections; 

(b) the Parent Governor membership and terms of office as set out in 
paragraphs 7-10 be reaffirmed; 

(c) In accordance with paragraph 12 the Committee decide the 
appropriate number of non-voting co-opted representatives on 
the Committee and  

(d) in light of the decision at (c) above consideration be given to: 

i.  the sectors to be represented on the Committee; 

ii. the number of representatives to be appointed from the 
various sectors; 

iii. when any change is to take place and 

iv. the term of office for the various representatives appointed. 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None identified. 

25



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 3RD OCTOBER, 2005 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Paul James, Committee Officer (Scrutiny) on (01432) 260460 

 
StatutoryandCooptedMembersreport0.doc 

APPENDIX 1 

Extract from the Herefordshire Council Constitution, July 2001 – as revised 13 May 2005 – in 
relation to the functions of Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee. 

PART 7 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ARRANGEMENTS 

7.1 SCRUTINY COMMITTEES  

7.1.1 The Council will appoint a Strategic Monitoring Committee and the five 
Scrutiny Committees set out below to discharge the functions conferred by Section 21 
of the Local Government Act 2000  

Children's Services Functions conferred on or exercisable by 
the Council in its capacity as a local 
education authority; 
functions conferred on or exercisable by 
the Council which are social services 
functions (within the meaning of the Local 
Authority Social Services Act 1970 (c.42)) 
so far as those functions relate to 
children; 
the functions conferred on the Council 
under sections 23C to 24D of the Children 
Act 1989 (c.41)(so far as not falling within 
the above paragraph); 
the functions conferred on the Council 
under sections 10 to 12 and 17 of the 
Children Act 2004;  
any functions exercisable by the Council 
under section 31 of the Health Act 1999 
(c.8) on behalf of an NHS body (within the 
meaning of that section) so far as those 
functions relate to children; and  

any such functions as the Council considers 
appropriate.  

 

26


